

# Walden University ScholarWorks

Walden Dissertations and Doctoral Studies

Walden Dissertations and Doctoral Studies Collection

2018

# Parental Choice and Perceived Benefits of Reggio Emilia Inspired Programs

Heidi Harris Walden University

Follow this and additional works at: https://scholarworks.waldenu.edu/dissertations

Part of the Educational Administration and Supervision Commons, Pre-Elementary, Early Childhood, Kindergarten Teacher Education Commons, and the Social and Philosophical Foundations of Education Commons

This Dissertation is brought to you for free and open access by the Walden Dissertations and Doctoral Studies Collection at ScholarWorks. It has been accepted for inclusion in Walden Dissertations and Doctoral Studies by an authorized administrator of ScholarWorks. For more information, please contact ScholarWorks@waldenu.edu.

# Walden University

College of Education

This is to certify that the doctoral dissertation by

Heidi Alene Harris

has been found to be complete and satisfactory in all respects, and that any and all revisions required by the review committee have been made.

## **Review Committee**

Dr. Grace Lappin, Committee Chairperson, Education Faculty Dr. Terri Edwards, Committee Member, Education Faculty Dr. Danielle Hedegard, University Reviewer, Education Faculty

> Chief Academic Officer Eric Riedel, Ph.D.

> > Walden University 2018

# Abstract

# Parental Choice and Perceived Benefits of Reggio Emilia Inspired Programs

by

Heidi Alene Harris

MS, Capella University, 2010

BAA, Central Michigan University, 2004

Dissertation Submitted in Partial Fulfillment
of the Requirements for the Degree of
Doctor of Education

Walden University

November 2018

#### Abstract

Despite credible research to support a constructivist-based approach in early childhood programs, policymakers continued to push for a more academic-based philosophy in an effort to reach standardized testing goals. Reggio Emilia, a constructivist-based early childhood philosophy that originated in Northern Italy, has been shown to be an excellent model to facilitate optimum learning in young children. The purpose of this phenomenological study was to investigate parental experiences when choosing the constructivist-based early childhood program, Reggio Emilia, for their children and to explore parents' perceived benefits after their children attended. A constructivist conceptual framework was used to provide context for the Reggio Emilia philosophy. A purposeful sampling strategy was used to select a Reggio Emilia inspired program, Foundations Early Learning Center, in the American Midwest. Five parents who had enrolled their children at Foundations Early Learning Center for a minimum of 6 months participated through in-depth interviews. Data were analyzed, categorized, and clustered into similar themes that described the phenomenon. Results indicated parents identified an overall satisfaction for choosing a Reggio Emilia experience for their preschool children. Ten perceived benefits from parents were identified that were associated with their children after they attended the Reggio Emilia inspired program. Findings of the current study have the potential to bring awareness to policymakers and early childhood program directors when making decisions on what type of educational philosophy to implement into early childhood programs with results favoring the choice of a constructivist-based Reggio Emilia inspired program over alternative options.

# Parental Choice and Perceived Benefits of Reggio Emilia Inspired Programs

by

# Heidi Alene Harris

MS, Capella University, 2010

BAA, Central Michigan University, 2004

Dissertation Submitted in Partial Fulfillment
of the Requirements for the Degree of
Doctor of Education

Walden University

November 2018

#### Dedication

This dissertation is lovingly dedicated to my faithful family. To my love, Steven Riley Harris, who never faltered in his belief in me while I achieved my dream; it was not easy, but together, we did it. My children and best friends, Barrington Hotchkin Leo, and Riley Alene, who showed me the most important and joyous job in life is to be their mama. To my mother and father, who lovingly raised me to believe in myself and taught me to never give up, be adventurous, stay committed, and create my own path in life. My sister, Megan, who never stopped praying for my journey and my loyal brothers, Max and Brandon. To my Heavenly Father who is always my biggest fan.

## Acknowledgments

In my first college human development course, I recall the stories of research conducted on babies living in Russian orphanages of something I will never forget. The outcome of these studies displayed malnourishment, neglect, and resulted in severe cognitive, social, emotional, and physical delays of young children who lived there. Caregivers lacked the ability to love, nuture, and give appropriate care to the children that they needed in order to thrive. The influence of these early studies and with God's direction, I have been given a strong desire to complete my doctorate in order to bring awareness of the impact that early experiences have on children's lives. Thank you to all of the early childhood professionals who have dedicated their time to create change in the field. To my professors, especially Dr. Helen Hagens from Central Michigan University, who spurred a love for early childhood in me from the beginning. Thank you to my colleagues over the years: Roxy Greenspan and my colleagues at Google Children's Centers who I felt honored to learn alongside of. Thank you to my dear friend, Silvia Ferguson, who did nothing but encourage me. To all my lovely friends who have been faithful, even when I wasn't.

To Loris Malaguzzi and the community who worked tirelessly to bring about an educational project, Reggio Emilia, that has changed the way the world views young children. Dr. Grace Lappin who faithfully walked alongside me during this never-ending process. To the late Dr. Darragh Callahan who passed away before I could complete my dissertation, but the influence she brought to my research will always be remembered. Dr. Terri Edwards who stepped in and has been so gracious to support my efforts.

# Table of Contents

List of Tables	vii
Chapter 1: Introduction to the Study	1
Background	2
Problem Statement	3
Purpose of the Study	4
Research Questions	5
Conceptual Framework	5
Nature of the Study	6
Definition of Terms	7
Assumptions	8
Scope and Delimitations	9
Limitations	10
Significance	11
Summary	12
Chapter 2: Literature Review	14
Introduction	14
Literature Search Strategies	15
Conceptual Framework: Constructivist Theory	16
Constructivism	16
Bruner	18
Dewey	18

Gardner	19
Studies with Conceptual Framework of Constructivism	19
Constructivist Versus Nonconstructivist Philosophical Model	20
Options for Early Childhood Programs in the United States	21
Brief History of Reggio Emilia Programs in Italy	22
International Recognition	24
Main Tenets of Reggio Emilia Philosophy	25
Education as a Right: Promotion of Potentials of Children	25
Children as Active Participants	26
The Hundred Languages and Importance of Creative Arts	27
Educator as Researcher and Progettazione	29
Educational Documentation	30
Organization of Time	31
Long-Term Investigations and Project Work	32
Environment as the Third Teacher	33
Relationship Between Children, Educators, Families, and Community	34
Perceived Benefits Associated with Reggio Emilia Programs	35
Critical Thinking and Problem-Solving Skills	36
Creative Arts Skills	36
Positive Inclusion Practices of All Children	37
Relationship with Educators	38
Motivation to Learn	38

Reggio Emilia Inspired Programs in the United States	39
Perceived Disadvantages of Reggio Emilia Inspired Programs in the United	
States	41
Explanation of Past Research Related to the Current Study	42
Seminal Works	42
Studies with Similar Scope and Rationale for Research	43
Strengths and Weaknesses of Literature Related to the Research Problem	45
Studies with Phenomenological Approach	46
Summary and Conclusions	47
Chapter 3: Research Method	50
Introduction	50
Research Design and Rationale	50
Role of the Researcher	51
Methodology	52
Participant Selection Logic	52
Sampling	54
Instrumentation	54
Procedures for Recruitment, Participation, and Data Collection	55
Data Analysis Plan	56
Data Analysis Computer Programs	57
Issues of Trustworthiness	57
Ethical Procedures	59

Summary	60
Chapter 4: Results	62
Introduction	62
Setting	62
Demographics	63
Data Collection	64
Data Analysis	65
Evidence of Trustworthiness.	68
Credibility and Transferability	68
Dependability and Confirmability	69
Results	69
Themes Based on Research Question 1	71
Theme 1: Research of Reggio Emilia Philosophy by Parents	71
Theme 2: Informed Decision through Program Tours	73
Theme 3: Intrinsic Feeling for Choosing Reggio Emilia Program	75
Theme 4: Chose Against a Non-Constructivist-Based Approach	76
Theme 5: Satisfaction for Choosing a Reggio Emilia Program over	
Alternatives	78
Themes Based on Research Question 2	81
Theme 1: Access to Creative Opportunities	82
Theme 2: Individualized Care and Learning	84
Theme 3: Interest, Inquiry, and Project-Based Learning	85

Theme 4: Communication and Making Learning Visible through	
Documentation	88
Theme 5: Classroom Environment and Choice of Materials	91
Theme 6: Educators Approach to Teaching	93
Theme 7: Viewing Children as Capable	95
Theme 8: Authentic Relationships and Social-Emotional Development	97
Theme 9: Constructivist-Based Learning: Learn Through Doing	99
Theme 10: Nature and Outside Classroom Experiences	101
Discrepant Cases	102
Summary	103
Chapter 5: Discussion, Conclusions, and Recommendations	106
Introduction	106
Interpretation of Findings	107
Connection to past Literature Related to Research Question 1	108
Connection to past Literature Related to Research Question 2	109
Findings Related to Conceptual Framework	111
Limitations of the Study	112
Recommendations	114
Implications	116
Researcher's Reflections	118
Conclusion	119
References	121

Appendix A: Invitation to Participate	.135
Appendix B: Interview Questions for Parent Participants	.136

# List of Tables

Table 1. Data Collection Information	55
Table 2. Participant Demographics	64

#### Chapter 1: Introduction to the Study

For parents, choosing an early childhood program to enroll their children in is an important and complex decision. Historically in the United States, there have been two different approaches to early childhood education that parents can choose from: the traditional, academic, educator-directed (nonconstructivist) philosophy versus the child-centered, constructivist philosophy (Glenn-Applegate, Pentimonti, & Justice, 2011; Walsh & Petty, 2007; Wana, 2010). With the continued push for high-stakes testing in public schools in the United States, the expectations for early childhood programs are narrowly focused on academics with an educator-directed approach to learning (Apple 2008; Brown, 2015). However, past research has revealed that a constructivist-based learning model that fosters open-ended, play-based exploration is most beneficial for preschool-aged children. Yet policymakers continue to push for an academic, predetermined curricular, nonconstructivist approach (Mathis, 2011; Öztürk, 2016; Recchia & Bentley, 2013).

One constructivist-based learning model, Reggio Emilia, originated in Northern Italy in the late 1940s with the support of community members and co-founder, Loris Malaguzzi. Since the 1980s, practices of Reggio Emilia infant, toddler, and preschool centers in Italy have inspired early childhood programs to implement the ideas into programs in the United States (Reggio Children, 2012). There was a gap in past research on parental experiences choosing this constructivist-based model as well as perceived benefits that their children experienced after attending a Reggio Emilia program in the United States (Andrews, 2012; Hall et al., 2013; Pinata, Barnett, Burchinal, & Thornburg,

2009). The purpose of the current study was to understand parental experiences in the United States for choosing a constructivist-based Reggio Emilia early childhood program and to further investigate what advantages children experienced after attending.

### **Background**

A review of literature revealed a gap in examining reasons why parents in the United States have chosen one early childhood program, Reggio Emilia, over alternative, nonconstructivist-based program options and to further understand what perceived benefits parents identified after their children attended a Reggio Emilia inspired program (Andrews, 2012; Grogan, 2012; Johansen, Leibowitz, & Waite, 1996). Past research has been published on various topics regarding Reggio Emilia inspired program philosophy in the United States (Abdelfattah, 2015; Andrews, 2012; Bond, 2015; Firlick, 1995; McClow & Gillespie, 1998; Smith, 2014; Swann 2008). Research has also been conducted on benefits for children that have attended preschool (Hall et al., 2013; Hatcher, Nuner, & Paulsel, 2012; Mawdsley & Hauser-Cram, 2013; Recchia & Bently, 2013). However, there was a gap in the literature on parental experiences for choosing a constructivist-based Reggio Emilia inspired program as well as exploration of perceived benefits for children who attended a constructivist-based Reggio Emilia inspired program in a Midwestern state (Andrews, 2012; Grogan, 2012; Johansen et al., 1996).

The results of the current research may support parents who are faced with the decision to enroll their children in Reggio Emilia inspired early childhood programs in the United States. The results of the current study may also provide data for educators, parents, administrators, policymakers, and educational workers who have influence or

decisions on implementation or choice of early childhood philosophy. The results might contribute to social change by adding literature to why a constructivst-based early childhood program experience is developmentally appropriate and beneficial for children.

Chapter 1 will include a definition of the problem, the purpose of the study, and the research question. There will also be an explanation of the conceptual framework, the nature of the study, and definitions of terms related to the topic that will help the reader to understand the context of the topic. Finally, the chapter includes assumptions of the study, the scope and delimitations, what the limitations of the study were, an explanation of the significance for why the topic was chosen, and a summary.

#### **Problem Statement**

In the field of early childhood education, there is an on-going conflict between two different program philosophies: the academic, teacher-directed philosophy versus the interactive child-centered philosophy. The latter is constructivist in approach, and the former is nonconstructivist in approach. Evidence has indicated that an educator-directed, academic focused approach to learning in preschool is not developmentally or age appropriate and does not benefit young children's overall growth (Apple, 2008; Brown, 2015; Diamond, 2010; Nitecki & Chung, 2013). Rather, the interactive, child-centered, constructivist approach facilitates greater learning and developmental advances in young children because it supports the way children learn naturally (Christakis, 2016; Copple & Bredekamp, 2009; Nitecki & Chung, 2013). The problem is that despite credible research to support an interactive, constructivist-based curriculum model for preschoolers, policymakers continue to push for a more academic, sit-down, or "chalk and talk" based

preschool approach in an effort to endorse standardized testing supporters (Barbarin et al., 2008; Bodrova & Leong, 2005; Brown, 2013; Kim & Darling, 2009; Öztürk, 2016; Swann, 2008).

The Reggio Emilia educational philosophy has been shown to be an excellent model to facilitate optimum learning in young children (Bond, 2015; Edwards, Gandini, & Forman, 2012; Firlick, 1995; New, 1999). Reggio Emilia programs are grounded in developmentally appropriate practices; emergent, project-based learning; and an approach to learning that considers the whole child. The intention of the current research was to provide further data to support developmentally appropriate practice and parents' preferences for a constructivist-based preschool over policymakers' insistence on inappropriate elementary school standards in preschool (Barbarin et al., 2008).

# **Purpose of the Study**

The purpose of this qualitative phenomenological study was to investigate parental experiences in choosing a Reggio Emilia inspired early childhood program for their preschool children and to explore perceived benefits parents identified after their children attended the program. Parents face a difficult decision when choosing an early childhood program that is a best fit for their child. It is the goal of many parents to determine if there is one early childhood program philosophy that is superior over alternatives (Andrews, 2012; Ransom, 2012; Walsh & Petty, 2007; Wana, 2010). In the United States, there are a multitude of early childhood program philosophies for parents to choose from that may include, but are not limited to, Bank Street, High-Scope, Montessori, Reggio Emilia, and Waldorf (Walsh & Petty, 2007). Previous researchers

have examined various aspects of Reggio Emilia inspired programs in the United States, but there is a gap in investigations on parental experiences and associated perceived benefits for choosing a constructivist-based Reggio Emilia program for their children (Abdelfattah, 2015; Andrews, 2012; Bond, 2015; Firlick, 1995; McClow & Gillespie, 1998; Smith, 2014; Swann 2008). With minimal research published on how Reggio Emilia philosophy has been adapted into early childhood programs in the United States, this study was conducted to understand lived experiences for parents choosing a Reggio Emilia program in the American Midwest for their children.

### **Research Questions**

Research questions of phenomenological research should be defined, discussed, and clarified so the intent and purpose of the investigation are evident (Moustakas, 1994). The following research questions provided direction to the current study:

- 1. What were the lived experiences of parents who chose to enroll their children in a constructivist-based Reggio Emilia inspired early childhood program?
- 2. What were the associated benefits that parents perceived were achieved after they enrolled their children in a Reggio Emilia inspired program?

#### **Conceptual Framework**

The conceptual framework that grounded the current study was the theory of constructivism, which helps explain how humans construct knowledge and meaning from real-life experiences. Reggio Emilia early childhood programs are rooted in the constructivist learning theory developed by Bruner, Dewey, Gardner, Piaget, Vygotsky, and Malguzzi (Edwards et al., 2012; Firlick, 1995; Hewett, 2001). For the purpose of the

current study, I used a multi-dimensional conceptual framework of Bruner, Dewey, and Gardner that helped to explain philosophical underpinnings of Reggio Emilia programs. The theory of constructivism related to the research questions and design of the current study because the topic being studied, Reggio Emilia philosophy, was founded on the theory of constructivism. A deeper explanation of the conceptual framework of constructivism will be explained in the literature review in Chapter 2.

# **Nature of the Study**

Choosing one research design over others should be determined by the intended outcome of the study (Creswell, 2013). The intention of a phenomenological design is to find meaning through lived experiences (Moustakas, 1994). For this current study, the intended outcome was to examine the meaning of choices, perceived benefits, and overall experiences of parents. Through a qualitative research design, researchers are able to answer meanings of topics and experiences (Moustakas, 1994). A phenomenological design allows researchers to examine human science behavior related to pedagogy, parent beliefs, and education (Van Manen, 1990). The nature of the current study fit best with a phenomenological research design because the intent was to find the meaning behind parent beliefs on Reggio Emilia educational pedagogy.

The goal of the current research was to understand the essence of the lived experiences of parents whose children attended the same Reggio Emilia inspired early childhood program in the Ameican Midwest. In the current study, a holistic approach was used to investigate the identicial phenomenon of five parent lived experiences. Face-to-face in-depth interviews with parents was the only data collection tool used.

#### **Definition of Terms**

Listed below are definitions of key concepts in the current study that will help the reader to understand the context of the terms that were used:

*Atelier:* A workshop or studio space in Reggio Emilia early childhood programs; ateliers are a foundational part of the philosophy and include an atelierista (studio educator) to support the expression of self for children through a relationship with materials (Gandini, Hill, Cadwell, & Schwall, 2005).

Developmentally appropriate practice (DAP): An approach to teaching grounded in research on how young children develop, learn, and what is known about effective and appropriate early education. Developmentally appropriate practices are designed to promote young children's optimal learning and development (Copple & Bredekamp, 2009).

Early childhood programs: Refers to programs that provide early care and education that serve children between the ages of infancy to kindergarten entry (Copple & Bredkamp, 2009).

One hundred languages: An integral part of Reggio Emilia philosophy is the belief that children learn in a multitude of ways or "one hundred languages." In Reggio Emilia programs, children are given a variety of mediums to learn through that include visual, language, sounds, touch, taste, smells, theater, creative arts (Reggio Children, 2012).

Reggio emilia early childhood programs: A public system of childcare and educational programs in the city of Reggio Emilia, Italy, built by parents, community members, and educators for over 50 years (Edwards et al., 2012).

Reggio emilia inspired: To gather inspiration from the practices of the original Reggio Emilia infant, toddler, and preschool programs in Reggio Emilia, Italy. A Reggio Emilia inspired program is an early childhood program outside of the original programs in Italy that gain inspiration to follow the philosophy of Reggio Emilia (Hendrick, 1997).

North American Reggio Emilia Alliance (NAREA): Organization for educators, policymakers, and interested community members in North America that supports collaboration with educators of Reggio Emilia, Italy (North American Reggio Emilia Alliance, 2018).

## **Assumptions**

In the current study, one Reggio Emilia inspired early childhood program in the American Midwest was chosen for the data collection site. Although educators, administration, and staff in the chosen site were committed and used practices from Italian Reggio Emilia early childhood programs, no program will be able to replicate the pedagogy of the original schools in Italy. The culture of the community, country, and people in Italy play a significant part in how the original Reggio Emilia early childhood programs function and operate (Firlick, 1995; Swann, 2008). There is no formal training for Reggio Emilia programs in the United States to follow (as there is in Montessori or HighScope for example); early childhood programs in the United States can only use

inspirations from Reggio Emilia as closely as possible but will never be able to replicate the original program practices in Italy (Abdelfattah 2015; Zorec, 2015).

In the context of the current study, the data collection site was chosen after close evaluation of the quality of implementation of the main tenets of Reggio Emilia practices that included (a) a strong vision of children; (b) educators as researchers and coconstructors in learning; (c) relationships between students, educators, and families were fostered; (d) a constructivist foundation; (e) the inclusion of the environment as third teacher; (f) documentation; (g) one hundred languages of children and inclusion of atelier; and (h) the project approach to learning. Although there were other practices that contributed to being inspired by Reggio Emilia programs, the above-mentioned practices were considered the main tenets of Reggio Emilia program practice and was used as the evaluation method for choosing the data collection site (Bond, 2015; Edwards et al., 2012; Elliot, 2005; Istituizone of the Municipality of Reggio Children, 2010; Smith, 2014; Swann, 2008).

#### **Scope and Delimitations**

The area of interest for the current study was to examine why parents chose Reggio Emilia programs over alternative program options. I further examined what perceived benefits were associated with their children's experiences in a Reggio Emilia inspired program. The focus of the current study was chosen over other focuses related to Reggio Emilia inspired programs because there was a gap in research on this topic. The main participants in the current study were parents. With the majority of past research on

this topic collected from educators' viewpoints, the collection of data from parents was chosen to bring a different perspective from the participants.

Disadvantages of children who attended Reggio Emilia inspired programs in the United States have not been included as the purpose of the current research. It is important to acknowledge that past researchers have investigated disadvantages regarding the implementation of the European based philosophy, Reggio Emilia, into early childhood programs in the United States (Abdelfattah, 2015; Elliott, 2005). To control for bias, a brief explanation of identified disadvantages is included in Chapter 2.

Historically in the United States, progressive educational programs like Reggio Emilia have served middle- to upper-class families (Smith, 2014). For the purpose of the current study, I chose a data collection site that was Reggio Emilia inspired. The chosen data collection site was tuition-based and included families who were able to afford the early childhood program, possibly excluding families in a lower socioeconomic class. In terms of transferability of the current study, the results of five parent participants resulted in rich enough data to transfer to other contexts (see Creswell, 2013). When transfering results of the current research to future research studies, it is important to consider that the parent participants were all of higher-socioeconomic status.

#### Limitations

The chosen research design, phenomenology, came with advantages and disadvantages. One disadvantage of the phenomenological research design is researcher bias. Although bias was controlled through epoche, the process does not elminate all biases (Moustakas, 1994). In phenomenological designs, the researcher should avoid

making hypotheses and focus on a topic with an unbiased, new perspective, creating a question or problem to guide the study that generates findings for future research and reflection (Moustakas, 1994). As the researcher of the current study, I reflected on my own experiences of working in multiple Reggio Emilia inspired early childhood programs in the United States and searched for biases as I conducted my research (see Creswell, 2013). I controlled for bias through bracketing and gained awareness of the assumptions I brought to my research through my past personal experiences related to Reggio Emilia philosophy (see Moustaka, 1994).

A second limitation was that data were collected from parents through interviews at least 6 months after their children started at Foundations Early Learning Center. Before I conducted the interviews, I anticipated that parents may have had difficulty recalling reasons why they chose a Reggio Emilia inspired program after 6 months had passed. Yet, I found that parents seemed to recall details of their choice of Reggio Emilia with ease.

# **Significance**

This study was unique becasuse it addressed an under-researched area of early childhood education related to Reggio Emilia early childhood philosophy in the American context. Results from the current study display parents' identified advantages and satisfaction of a constructivist-based Reggio Emilia early childhood program for their children over alternative program options (see Hirsh-Pasek, Golinkoff, Berk, & Singer, 2009; see Miller & Almon, 2009). In the field of early childhood education, decisions are made from policymakers who seek data to understand if a project-based, interactive,

constructivist-based approach is beneficial for young children (Hirsh-Pasek et al., 2009; Miller & Almon, 2009). For policymakers and educators who contribute to making decisions on what philosophy early childhood programs follow, the results of the current study may encourage examination of the associated benefits parents identified in choosing the Reggio Emilia philosophy.

#### **Summary**

The purpose of this qualitative phenomenological study was to investigate parental perceptions of choosing a constructivist-based Reggio Emilia inspired early childhood program for their children and the perceived benefits associated with children who have attended a Reggio Emilia inspired program. Included in Chapter 1 was an explanation of the current study that included information on the background and statement of the problem. A description of the research questions helped to create the purpose of the research. Chapter 1 also included a discussion of the conceptual framework, operational definitions, limitations, delimitations, assumptions, and significance of why the study should be conducted.

Chapter 2 will include a current review of literature related to Reggio Emilia early childhood programs with a focus on past research on parental choices and benefits of children attending a constructivist-based Reggio Emilia inspired early childhood program. Options for early childhood programs in the United States that parents had the potential to choose from will be included. To give context to how Reggio Emilia programs were created, a brief history of the original programs in Reggio Emilia, Italy will be described. An explanation of main tenets of Reggio Emilia philosophy will also

be explained. Perceived benefits that have been identified for children who have attended a contructivist-based Reggio Emilia program are added, and an explanation will be given on Reggio Emilia inspired programs and how programs in the United States have implemented the philosophy. A section on perceived disadvantages of Reggio Emilia inspired programs in the United States is also included. The conceptual framework of the constructivist theory for the current study will be described. Last, an explanation of past research related to the current study that included studies with the similar conceptual framework, phenomenology approach, and seminal works will be included.

### Chapter 2: Literature Review

#### Introduction

A constructivist-based early childhood philosophy like Reggio Emilia has been shown as a best learning model for preschool-aged children, yet policymakers continue to push for an academic, teacher-directed philosophy instead (Apple, 2008; Brown, 2015; Diamond, 2010; Nitecki & Chung, 2013; Ozturck, 2016). Past research has been conducted on benefits for children that attended preschool but not specifically on what children experienced as beneficial after they attended a Reggio Emilia preschool program in the United States (Abdelfattah, 2015; Elliott, 2005; Hall et al., 2012; Hatcher et al., 2012; Mawdsley & Hauser-Cram, 2013; Recchia & Bently, 2013; Swann, 2008). Past research has also been conducted on various aspects of Reggio Emilia philosophy, but there is a lack of literature on why parents in the United States choose Reggio Emilia inspired programs for their children (Andrews, 2012; Grogan, 2012; Johansen et al.,1996). In the current study, I investigated the lived experiences of parents in the American Midwest who chose to send their children to a constructivist-based Reggio Emilia inspired program and the perceived benefits for their children who attended the program.

Chapter 2 will include a review of previous literature based on Reggio Emilia early childhood programs in the United States with a focus on studies that have examined benefits associated with Reggio Emilia philosophy and parental experiences with their children after the children have attended a Reggio Emilia inspired program. The literature review will be structured so that previous literature related to the current study will be

embedded into topics included in Chapter 2. Included in Chapter 2 will be an explanation of search strategies that were used to conduct the literature review. A detailed description of constructivist versus nonconstructivist educational philosophies will be explained next. Common options for early childhood programs in the United States will be given. To help understand Reggio Emilia philosophy deeper, a brief history of Reggio Emilia programs in Italy will be explained. The main tenets of Reggio Emilia philosophy will be identified and explained. Next, identified perceived benefits associated with Reggio Emilia early childhood programs will be added. A context for how programs in the United States have implemented Reggio Emilia philosophy will be included. Percieved disadvantages of Reggio Emilia inspired programs will be added next. A deeper explanation for the chosen conceptual framework of the constructivist theory will also be included. An explanation of past research related to the current study will be given in full detail. Lastly, Chapter 2 will end with a summary.

# **Literature Search Strategies**

An exhaustive literature review was conducted through keyword searches of multiple educational databases that included Education Research Complete, ERIC, SAGE premier, and Google Scholar. Search terms were used in a variety of combinations that helped to locate peer-reviewed scholarly journals and other materials related to the current study. The following search terms were used: early childhood, early childhood programs, preschool, Reggio Emilia, Reggio Emilia inspired programs, Reggio Emilia benefits, parents, parents choice, parents perceptions, families choice, phenomenology, constructivism, choosing preschool, Montessori parents, benefits preschool, kindergarten

readiness, constructivist based preschool, non-constructivist, academic based preschool, teacher-directed, behaviroism versus constructivim, benefits of constructivist, developmentally appropriate, standardized testing, and benefits of early childhood programs.

Additional searches to find resources were conducted after the analyzation of the reference lists of peer-reviewed articles. Resources were also chosen for the literature review based on their relevance of 5 years or newer. Some seminal articles and books were chosen for their historical impact and relation to the topic at hand. Books were also included that supported the understanding of Reggio Emilia philosophy. In the search for articles that were related to parents that chose Reggio Emilia inspired early childhood programs in the United States, a limited amount of articles were found. Dissertations related to the current topic were included to fill the gap in the limited amount of scholarly articles that were published.

# **Conceptual Framework: Constructivist Theory**

The multi-dimensional conceptual framework of the theories from Bruner,

Dewey, and Gardner helped to explain the philosophical underpinnings of Reggio Emilia
early childhood philosophy and gave deeper understanding of the purpose of the current
study.

#### Constructivism

The educational theory that grounded the current study was the theory of constructivism, which helps explain how people construct their own knowledge of the world through experiences and their reflection on those experiences. The constructivist

theory was the foundation of Reggio Emilia early childhood programs because the theory stresses a strong image of the child, negotiated learning, documentation, and social relationships that were fostered in Reggio Emilia programs (Schneider et al., 2014). According to Swann (2008), the constructivist foundation of Reggio Emilia programs includes the theories of Piaget (1937/1954), Dewey (1941), Hawkins (1986), Bruner (1980), and Vygotsky (1934/1986).

Understanding the constructivist framework as the foundation of Reggio Emilia early childhood philosophy helps explain what benefits may be expected of children who attended a Reggio Emilia inspired program. Reggio Emilia early childhood programs have integrated the main tenets of constructivist theories of the following educational theorists and philosophers, but are not limited to Bronfenbrenner, Bruner, Dewey, Erikson, Freinet, Gardner, Piaget, and Vygotsky (Edwards et al., 2012; Fyfe, 2011; Hanna, 2014; Swann, 2008).

As the researcher of the current study, I felt that the constructivist-based theories of Bruner, Dewy, and Gardner gave the most accurate understanding of Reggio Emilia early childhood program philosophy (Bruner, 1966, 1977; Dewey, 1938, 1990; Gardner, 1982; 2011). The theories of Bruner, Dewey, and Gardner are focused on three main tenets that explained the Reggio Emilia constructivist program philosophy because the theories are all based on the value children as active participants in education, integratation of the multiple intelligences and strengths of children in learning, and belief that social relationships, classroom environments, educators, and materials shape students' learning (Schneider et al., 2014).

#### Bruner

Jerome Bruner was one of the theorists who contributed to the constructivist theory of education (Yilmaz, 2008). Bruner believed that children should be given the opportunity to make sense of the world through actively participating in their own education and was one of the key tenets of Reggio Emilia philosophy (Palmer, 2001). Malaguzzi acknowledged Bruner as a source of inspiration in the creation of Reggio Emilia early childhood programs because of his contribution to the constructivist theory of education and his perspective on the educators role in learning. Bruner's approach to teaching requires educators to ask questions and emphasizes that educators scaffold learning with students (Edwards et al., 2012).

# Dewey

The theory of constructivism was founded on Dewey's belief that children learn through play and children find meaning in their experiences when they are given the opportunity to be involved in the process (Hanna, 2013). Dewey's constructivist approach to education values the child as a capable participant in the learning process and was used as the foundation of Reggio Emilia philosophy (Dodd-Nufrio, 2011). Like the foundation of Reggio Emilia program philosophy, Dewey valued the process of education with project-based learning as the main tenet of Dewey's theory (Glassman & Whaley, 2000). Dewey believed that educators should connect students to meaningful experiences versus predetermined topics out of a planning book, which is also integrated in Reggio Emilia early childhood programs (Glassman & Whaley, 2000).

#### Gardner

Gardner was an educational philosopher from the United States who created the multiple intelligences theory in the 1970s with value placed on how each human learns in a multitude of ways (Gardner, 2011). Gardner was acknowledged as one of the philosophers who contributed to the constructivist theory of learning (Fogarty, 1999). Gardner identified eight intelligences: linguistic, logical-mathematical, spatial, musical, bodily kinesthetic, interpersonal, intrapersonal, and naturalist. Since the creation of the original eight multiple intelligences, Gardner suggested that existential and moral intelligences should also be included (Gardner, 2011). The main tenets of the multiple intelligence theory are based on the belief that every person has a unique mix of strengths and weaknesses within these eight intelligences (Palmer, 2001).

In a constructivist classroom, like in Reggio Emilia inspired programs, educators interpret multiple intelligence theory into practice and give students the opportunity to learn in various ways (Gardner, 2011). In the original Reggio Emilia early childhood programs in Italy, educators integrated aspects of the multiple intelligence theory. In Reggio Emilia, the *hundred languages of children* is the term used and is similar to Gardner's multiple intelligences theory that supports children having the opportunity to express themselves in hundreds of ways (Krechevsky, Mardell, Rivard, & Wilson, 2013).

#### Studies with Conceptual Framework of Constructivism

Past qualitative researchers have examined aspects of Reggio Emilia inspired practices in the United States and used constructivism as the conceptual framework for the studies (Elliott, 2005; Mathis, 2011; New, 1989; Recchia & Bentley, 2011). For

example, Elliott (2005) investigated the faculty at a laboratory early childhood program in the United States that adopted a constructivist-based Reggio Emilia philosophy into their practice. Similar to the current study, Elliott used a constructivist theory as the framework for the study because it aligned with the philosophy of Reggio Emilia. Additionally, Swann (2008) investigated the constructivist foundation of Reggio Emilia inspired programs through a quasi-naturalist study in the United States, and explained that the constructivist foundation of Reggio Emilia programs includes the theories of Bruner (1980), Dewey (1941), Hawkins (1986), Piaget (1937/1954), Vygotsky, (1934/1986), and others.

# **Constructivist Versus Nonconstructivist Philosophical Model**

In the field of early childhood education, there are two diverse program philosophies: the academic, educator-directed, nonconstructivist philosophy versus the play-based, interactive, coconstructivist (educator and child) philosophy. Parents have found it difficult to choose one early childhood program option over alternative options when there are a variety of programs available to enroll their children (Ransom, 2012). When parents make decisions of what type of program to enroll their children in, parents are sometimes confused in what program model they should chose for their children with typical choices between a constructivist and a nonconstructivity type of program (Ransom, 2012).

An overarching problem in the field of early childhood education in the United States has been that because of standardized testing in public schools there have been unreasonable expectations put onto preschool students to be prepared for testing in

kindergarten (Barbarin et al., 2008; Christakis, 2016). Many early childhood programs affiliated with public schools use an academic-based, nonconstructivist philosophy to match the standards set by policymakers. The goal of these public affiliated preschools has been to prepare preschool children for kindergarten with worksheets, predetermined curriculum, and an educator-down approach in order to promote preparation for standardized tests (Apple, 2008). Despite policymakers' creation of standards not appropriate for preschool-aged children, past research has shown that young children naturally learn from play in a constructivist-based program that is developmentally, age, and culturally appropriate like in Reggio Emilia (Copple & Bredekamp, 2009).

# **Options for Early Childhood Programs in the United States**

There have been a variety of philosophies in the United States that early childhood programs have followed over the years—some constructivist-based, some nonconstructivist-based, and some with a combination of both. Various types of philosophical approaches to early childhood programs in the United States have included: Bank Street, High-Scope, Montessori, Reggio Emilia, Waldorf, play-based, or academic-based (Wana, 2010). Additionally, Walsh and Petty (2007) conducted a 10-year content analysis of early childhood program options offered in the United States and concluded that six philosophical approaches to early childhood programs are the most frequently used program options in the United States: Bank Street, Head Start, High Scope, Montessori, Reggio Emilia, and Waldorf. Federally funded Head Start programs have varied by philosophical approach and is a popular early childhood program option for families of low socioeconomic status (Zigler & Styfco, 2010). Alternative early

childhood program options in the United States include programs with a religious affiliation, general play-based constructivist programs that do not follow a certain philosophical approach, or general academic-based programs (Wana, 2010).

Past research has indicated that parents choose early childhood programs for their children based on extrinsic (cost, location, reliability, availability, etc.) and intrinsic (group size, educational philosophy, quality of educators, etc.) factors (Grogan, 2012; Ransom, 2012). For the purpose of the current study, parental decisions for choosing an early childhood program based on one intrinsic factor, the program's philosophical approach, was investigated. The one philosophical approach option investigated in the current study was Reggio Emilia.

# **Brief History of Reggio Emilia Programs in Italy**

The practices and philosophy of Reggio Emilia early childhood programs have been inspired, adopted, and implemented in early childhood programs in the United States since the 1980s (Gandini et al., 2008; Hall & Rudkin, 2011; Krechevsky et al., 2013). For readers to understand how programs in the United States have gained inspiration from Reggio Emilia, the history of Reggio Emilia programs in Italy will be explained. The city-operated Reggio Emilia early childhood programs were founded in Reggio Emilia, located north of Bologna in the region of Emilia-Romagna in the country of Italy (Edwards et al., 2012). Malaguzzi, a community member in Reggio Emilia, was an educational philosopher and local educator who was credited for the creation of Reggio Emilia early childhood programs along with community members. After the end of World War II in the 1940s, Malaguzzi and community members built and created

buildings for the early childhood programs in Reggio Emilia (Reggio Children, 2012). It took years to develop and create the schools and the first Reggio Emilia early childhood program was opened in 1963, years after Malaguzzi and the community started the efforts (Edwards et al., 2012).

The opening of city-operated Reggio Emilia early childhood programs were a result of various political, cultural, and social struggles that included more women who worked outside of the home, reduced control of education through the central government, and the creation of an innovative approach to school that was different from the previously Catholic dominated, fascist preschools (Reggio Children, 2012). Before the creation of Reggio Emilia early childhood programs, Catholic churches were the main provider of preschool education (Edwards et al., 2012; Reggio Children, 2012). Women's groups in the community of Reggio Emilia and the men who supported them wanted an educational approach for children that were not controlled by the fascist government as it was before World War II (Fyfe, 2011). Malaguzzi led the movement, along with community members, and envisioned an early childhood program that honored children's capabilities and thinkings, embraced a democratic spirit, and focused on a place that accepted all children to provide excellence in education (Fyfe, 2011). The philosophy of Reggio Emilia programs is based on the ideas of educational theorists and philosophers such as Bronfenbrenner, Bruner, Dewey, Erikson, Freinet, Gardner, Hawkins, Piaget, and Vygotsky (Edwards et al., 2012; Fyfe, 2011; Hanna, 2014). The Reggio Emilia early childhood programs were intentionally built on the theory of constructivism, progressive

education, and founded on the belief that students have the right to be active participants in their own education (Swann, 2008).

Reggio Emilia infant, toddler, and preschool programs have grown and progressed over time. In 1968 there were 12 Reggio Emilia classrooms, in 1970 there were 24 classrooms, in 1972 there were 34 classrooms, and in 1980 Reggio Emilia programs expanded to 58 classrooms located in 22 buildings (Edwards et al., 2012). Throughout the years the amount of programs in Italy continued to grow to support the demand for early childhood programs in Reggio Emilia. As of 2015 there were 46 infant, toddler, and preschool programs in Reggio Emilia (North American Reggio Emilia Alliance, 2018).

## **International Recognition**

In the 1980s the first published research on Reggio Emilia programs in Italy gained international attention as the most renowned high-quality, community-supported early childhood programs in the western world (Firlick, 1995; New, 1989). One way the Reggio Emilia early childhood programs gained international recognition was through a traveling educational exhibit, *The Hundred Languages of Children*, that was created in 1981 (North American Reggio Emilia Alliance, 2018). *The Hundred Languages of Children* traveling exhibit was created by educators in Reggio Emilia who shared the work of children of Reggio Emilia programs in Italy with the rest of the world. As of 2018, the traveling exhibit continues to travel the world and traveled to 31 countries including the United States, Canada, Europe, Asia, and Mexico (Baldini et al., 2010). A second way Reggio Emilia early childhood programs gained international recognition

was after a 1991 Newsweek article identified the Reggio Emilia programs as the best early childhood programs in the world (Newsweek, 1991).

## Main Tenets of Reggio Emilia Philosophy

To fully understand the implications of Reggio Emilia early childhood programs, the underlying theoretical tenets of the educational philosohy were explained (Fyfe, 2011). The theoretical tenets of Reggio Emilia early childhood programs as outlined by Reggio Emilia educators in the pamphlet, Indications Preschools and Infant-Toddler Centres of the Municipality of Reggio Emilia, have included (for the purpose of the length of the paper, I have merged similar tenets together) (Istituizone of the Municipality of Reggio Children, 2010):

- 1. Education as a Right: Promotion of Potentials of Children
- 2. Children as Active Participants
- 3. The Hundred Languages and Importance of Creative Arts
- 4. Educator as Researcher and Progettazione
- 5. Educational Documentation
- 6. Organization of Time
- 7. Long-Term Investigations and Project Work
- 8. Environment as the Third Teacher
- 9. Relationships Between Children, Educators, Families, and Community

### **Education as a Right: Promotion of Potentials of Children**

Education was viewed as a right of all children in the early childhood programs of Reggio Emilia, Italy (Fyfe, 2011). The first proclaimed tenet behind Reggio Emilia early

childhood programs was that Malguzzi and community members envisioned a school where children were viewed as contributing citizens with rights, seen as capable, and would be listened to (Edwards et al., 2012). Malaguzzi explained, "If we believe children have rights we must treat their ideas seriously, learn with them side-by-side, and provide rich opportunities to develop their intelligence; not just offer safe and secure custodial service to meet their basic needs" (Fyfe, 2011, p. 587). In Reggio Emilia programs, children's ideas were valued, educators listened to children, and children were viewed as competent and capable. Educators took time to have dialogue with children to make children's ideas heard (Fyfe, 2011). Zorec (2015) reported that because children in Reggio Emilia programs were respected, listened to, and were included in the participation of their own learning, results of this approach to education indicated high levels of self- confidence and strong desires to learn in children.

## **Children as Active Participants**

The foundational tenet of Reggio Emilia philosophy is the constructivist-based approach that is unique from alternative early childhood philosophies. In Reggio Emilia programs and a foundation of constructivist-based programs is that children are included as active participants in their education. Roth and Mansson (2011) explained that children were treated as citizens in Reggio Emilia classrooms, "This view of children as having the capacity for activity, research, and participation serves as the basis for choosing projects involving challenges, children's own questions, and personal initiative" (pg. 252). Zorec (2015) conducted a study in a preschool in Slovenia that found inspiration from the Reggio Emilia pedagogy. A cornerstone of Reggio Emilia philosophy included

the participation of children in all aspects of education (Zorec, 2015). Results of Zorec's research indicated that two of the most important factors in implementing Reggio Emilia philosophy was to include children in the whole education process and to view children as strong and capable (2015). With constructivism as the foundation for learning in Reggio Emilia pedagogy, it was believed that students needed to play an active role in learning to support children in the acquisition and construction of knowledge (Zorec, 2015).

### The Hundred Languages and Importance of Creative Arts

The hundred languages of children is the phrase in Reggio Emilia programs used to honor the diversity in thinking and learning of each and every child. In Reggio Emilia programs, children are given a multitude of opportunities to express themselves visually, musically, creatively and through various mediums such as paint, clay, paper, and dance (Reggio Children, 2012). Bond (2015) investigated how music education was integrated into Reggio Emilia inspired programs in the United States. Bond found that one of the main tenets of Reggio Emilia programs was to embrace the hundred languages of learning that gave children opportunities to symbolically represent their thoughts through clay, wire, play, blocks, and other mediums (2015). In an effort to support the hundred languages of children studios (ateliers) and studio educators (atelieristas) are included in every early childhood program in Reggio Emilia, Italy (Edwards et al., 2012). The conception of the atelier was described by Lella Gandini,

One of the central tenets of the Reggio approach that has guided and continues to

drive the Italian educators' work is the idea that every child is a creative child, full of potential, with the desire and right to make meaning out of life within a context of rich relationships, in many ways, and using many languages. It was from this fundamental premise that the atelier was conceived and developed, and still evolves. (Gandini et al., 2005, pg. 7)

The preservice participants from Vatalaro, Szente, and Levin's (2015) phenomenology study attended a two-week study tour in Reggio Emilia early childhood programs in Italy. Results of Vatalaro et al. found that study tour participants reported an increased understanding of Reggio Emilia practices, specifically related to how creative and critical thinking opportunities provided relationships to learning for students (2015). One study tour participant described the level of creativity of children in Reggio Emilia programs, "The natural touches and creativity brought me to tears" (Vatalaro et al.). Perceived benefits of Reggio Emilia programs included giving children opportunities to create through materials, relationships with the environment, and the inclusion of the hundred languages of learning in classrooms (Vatalaro et al.).

Swann (2008) conducted a quasi-naturalist study that examined how students in a Reggio Emilia inspired program in the United States constructed knowledge. Students were observed as they explored art materials to determine how the constructivist foundation of Reggio Emilia pedagogy contributed to artistic development in students (Swann, 2008). Results indicated that when students were provided the opportunity to explore the same art materials repeatedly, a positive impact on relational attention and artistic abilities emerged in students (Swann, 2008). Results also displayed that children

who attended a Reggio Emilia program had an advanced level of creativity and acquired self-expression skills (Swann, 2008).

## **Educator as Researcher and Progettazione**

Educators in Reggio Emilia classrooms work co-constructively with students. An obvious difference between how Reggio Emilia educators interacted in collaboration with students compared to how traditional educators typically interacted with students in a teacher-directed manner (Schneider et al., 2014). The approach Reggio Emilia educators use with their students includes respecting students theories, viewing children as capable, involving students in developing curriculum, creating classroom environments to support learning, and making learning visible through documentation (Lyon & Donahue, 2009). Educators in Reggio Emilia engage in professional development opportunities, conduct research, and reflect on their educational practice (Edwards & Gandini, 2015).

The term progettazione used in Reggio Emilia programs described the planning process of educators: designing learning provocations, providing stimulating classroom environments, and engaging in professional development opportunities (Istituizone of the Municipality of Reggio Children, 2010). The underlying intention of progettazione was to create organic learning experiences for students instead of implementing predetermined curriculum in classrooms (Istituizone of the Municipality of Reggio Children, 2010). Educators in Reggio Emilia programs work together to plan, organize, and research interests of students to develop learning experiences.

A significant part of progettazione in Reggio Emilia programs was educators taking time for reflection of their educational practice. Parnell (2012) conducted a

phenomenological study that examined three educators who reflected on their practices of working in an atelier at a Reggio Emilia inspired early childhood program in Oregon. The results of Parnell's research explained positive results when educators took the time for reflection and was identified as a benefit of Reggio Emilia early childhood programs (2012). Parnell explained why educator reflection was important,

Ultimately, we find that educators must articulate and express their professional beliefs, assumptions and values held in the ways we teach and learn as well as reflect together to create new meaning in school experiences. Such processes develop understanding, such as when Marsha and Suzy explain their feelings of disconnectedness from classroom teachers and we expound on creative solutions to their dilemma. (Parnell, 2012, p. 131)

Merz and Swim (2011) observed principal, Dr. Renbarger, who was interested in implementing Reggio Emilia philosophy into early childhood programs at her school in the state of Indiana. Dr. Renbarger used a reflective practice strategy, as used in Reggio Emilia programs, that gave educators opportunities to discuss difficult topics and examined their own teaching practices. Results of the single case study displayed the importance and benefits of reflection practices of educators in Reggio Emilia programs (Merz & Swim, 2011).

### **Educational Documentation**

In Reggio Emilia classrooms, educational documentation is the visible work of students and educators. Documentation played an integral part of the educational practices of Reggio Emilia philosophy (Bond, 2015; Istituizone of the Municipality of

Reggio Children, 2010). Documentation is created through photos, writings, observational notes, and project work of students and educators. In Reggio Emilia programs, documentation was typically put on display in classrooms or around the school to visibly show the process of the work of the children and educators (Reggio Children, 2010). One intention of documentation was to share the work from the classrooms with children, families, and educators (New, 1989). At times, documentation was also created as an invitation for further exploration for students (Istituizone of the Municipality of Reggio Children, 2010).

### **Organization of Time**

The organization of time in Reggio Emilia early childhood programs in Italy varies from the organization of time in public schools in the United States. In Reggio Emilia classrooms, time was not measured by a clock, but was measured by observations of the children's interests and needs (Hendrick, 1997). The Italian value of time influenced how Reggio Emilia classrooms approached the daily schedule for students. In Reggio Emilia classrooms the value of time was slow, flexible, and allowed time for wait periods between projects and contrasted the expectations of time in many classrooms in the United States,

There was no struggle against the clock or an attempt to fit too many things into a small block of time. It was not a wall street office but a school for young children and that race with the clock simply not present. The hectic pressure to keep on schedule wasn't there. Things happened in their own time and space without the forced nature, a rushed schedule, or over-scheduling gives. (Wurm, 2005, pg.52)

The value of time in Reggio Emilia allowed for project-based learning as projects lasted for weeks, months, and even years (Edwards, Forman, & Gandini, 2012). As explained by Firlick, "Learning in Reggio takes on a more in-depth understanding of phenomenon because learning is not measured by time and coverage" (1995, p. 7). One of the values of the culture of Italy that transferred into the Reggio Emilia early childhood programs was the organization of time in classrooms.

### **Long-Term Investigations and Project Work**

The main vehicle for learning in Reggio Emilia programs was through long-term investigations (the word used in Reggio Emilia) or projects (Edwards et al., 2012).

Students interests were used to spur projects and were the main approach to learning in Reggio Emilia early childhood programs (McClow & Gillespie, 1998). Long-term investigations gave students opportunities to gain in-depth understanding on a specific topic through exploration, observation, conversations, questioning, hypothesizing, representing, theory building, and revisitation of ideas (Hewett, 2001). A study conducted in Sweden at Reggio Emilia inspired programs by Roth and Mansson (2011) described examples of projects that were pursued in Reggio Emilia classrooms that included light/dark and life/death. Projects were chosen to study in each Reggio Emilia classroom based on the observations, documentation, and conversations of the children by the educators in the classrooms (Hendrick, 1997).

Griebling conducted a 10-week ethnographic study that investigated the visual arts aspect of project work used in Reggio Emilia classrooms. The results of Griebling's research displayed perceived benefits of a project-based approach to education that was

used in Reggio Emilia classrooms (2011). Benefits identified in students that attended Reggio Emilia classrooms in the United States included the ability to express themselves, mastery of a variety of skills, a strong sense of belonging, and increased generosity for others (2011). Using projects as the main avenue for learning ensured that there was no planned curriculum or standards that indicated what and when children would be learning. Malaguzzi explained that having set curriculum plans pushed the early childhood programs towards teaching without learning (Edwards et al., 2012). Therefore, in Reggio Emilia classrooms, long-term investigations were implemented with each project organicly crafted uniquely to the individual students and educators in each classrom (Hewett, 2001).

### **Environment as the Third Teacher**

In Reggio Emilia early childhood programs, classroom environments are created with careful intention. A brief explanation for how the early childhood programs viewed classroom environments was outlined by Istituizone of the Municipality of Reggio Children,

The interior and exterior spaces of the infant-toddler centers and preschools are designed and organized in interconnected forms that foster interaction, autonomy, explorations, curiosity, communication, and are offered as places for the children and for the adults to research and live together. (2010, p.13)

One way educators in Reggio Emilia programs create intentional classroom environments were that educators chose specific classroom materials that were openended to allow for creativity, critical thinking, and experimentation. Materials were placed in Reggio Emilia classrooms with careful attention that appealed to students in aesthetically pleasing ways (New, 1989). One identified perceived benefit from parents for their children that attended a Reggio Emilia inspired program in Chicago, Illinois was that children were given freedom to explore open-ended classroom materials at will. Results for children in the case study from Smith displayed that because children were given the freedom to explore classroom materials, children learned how to self-manage their time with open-ended materials (2014).

### Relationship Between Children, Educators, Families, and Community

Fostering and building relationships between families, children, educators in the school, and also within the city community was another tenet of Reggio Emilia philosophy. The creators of Reggio Emilia programs believed that children needed to feel and see the collaboration between their parents and educators to build trust in school environments (New, 1989). Reggio Emilia programs included parents in the planning and the development of learning projects. A collaborative spirit was fostered in Reggio Emilia programs through parent meetings, parent workdays, class celebrations, and daily communication between educator, children, and parents (New, 1989).

To find deeper understanding of parental perceptions for children who attended a Reggio Emilia inspired program, Smith conducted a case study and examined experiences of low-income parents in a Reggio Emilia inspired program in Chicago, Illinois (2014). Historically, progressive programs like Reggio Emilia inspired programs, have failed to serve low-income populations in the United States (Smith, 2014). Smith investigated what parents experienced after their children attended a Reggio Emilia

inspired program that served low-income families and examined parents understanding of the Reggio Emilia philosophical approach. Results showed that parents experienced positive impressions of Reggio Emilia philosophy for their children, developed strong relationships between educators and families, and aquired a basic understanding of the Reggio Emilia philosophical approach (Smith, 2014). To further understand parental choice and identified benefits for their children who attended a Reggio Emilia inspired preschool, McClow and Gillespie (1998) conducted a qualitative study in a Head Start preschool program that integrated the practices of Reggio Emilia into their program philosophy. The results indicated that parents were involved in their childrens educational expereinces and wanted to know more about the implications of Reggio Emilia program philosophy (McClow & Gillespie, 1998). An integral foundation of Reggio Emilia philosophy was built on relationships between educators, families, and children within the larger community.

### Perceived Benefits Associated with Reggio Emilia Programs

One goal of the current study was to investigate parental perceived benefits for choosing a Reggio Emilia inspired program for their children in the Ameican Midwest. Identified benefits of children who attended Reggio Emilia programs included critical thinking and problem solving skills, acquisition of creative arts skills, positive inclusion practices of children of all ability levels, positive relationships with educators, and strong motivations to learn (Bond, 2015; Smith, 2014; Swann, 2008; Vakil et al., 2003; Zorec, 2015). The list of identified benefits will be included in detail in the next section.

### **Critical Thinking and Problem-Solving Skills**

One benefit for students who attended Reggio Emilia programs included the development of critical thinking and problem-solving skills (Griebling, 2011; Kim & Darling, 2009). Kim and Darling (2009) investigated how four-year-old students at a constructivist-based Reggio Emilia inspired program in Canada interpreted learning experiences. When problems arose during a classroom project in a Reggio Emilia classroom, children collaborated, learned how to express their thoughts to one another, and gained multiple perspectives after hearing their peers differing ideas (Kim & Darling, 2009). Children worked together in small groups and discussed theories about the project and when conflicts came up between children, the educators supported children to discuss and solve problems together (Kim & Darling, 2009). The results from Kim and Darling indicated that in Reggio Emilia programs educators supported ideas of students and fostered problem-solving skills that resulted in strengthened social-emotional development, critical thinking skills, and multiple perspectives of others (2009). Similarly, results of Katz's qualitative study indicated that students in Reggio Emilia early childhood programs in Italy gained habits of curiosity, reflection, and awareness of others through the project-based approach to learning (1999).

#### **Creative Arts Skills**

In Reggio Emilia programs, creative arts are valued and fostered with the inclusion of ateliers and the philosophy of the *hundred languages of learning*. Educators and scholars have recognized the advanced artistic abilities of children at the original Reggio Emilia early childhood programs in Italy (Swann, 2008). Swann (2008)

investigated 12 preschool children, ages three and four years old, while they explored collage paper in a Reggio Emilia inspired classroom. Results of Swann's (2008) quasi-naturalistic study indicated that one benefit of children that attended a Reggio Emilia inspired program was the acquistion of self-expression skills they obtained through the opportunities of being creative.

A 10-week ethnographic study of 16 children (ages 3 to 6 years old) was conducted in a Reggio Emilia inspired preschool in the metropolitan Midwest in the United States and investigated the purposes of creating artwork within the context of project work (Griebling, 2011). Results of an ethnography by Griebling concluded that when educators provided children with access to creative arts materials, allowed children to choose what they wanted to create with, and provided basic information on how to use certain art tools children showed competence in the creation of purposeful art (2011). Griebling's research displayed that the value placed on creative arts in Reggio Emilia inspired classrooms was identified as a benefit for children who attended (2011).

### **Positive Inclusion Practices of All Children**

The Italian early childhood programs in Reggio Emilia included children of various abilities in classrooms with their typically developing peers. One benefit parents identified for children that attended Reggio Emilia early childhood programs was the positive inclusion practices for children with disabilities. Children with special needs (the intentional term "special rights" used in classrooms in Reggio Emilia, Italy) regardless of ability level were included in all infant, toddler, and preschool classrooms in Reggio Emilia (Gilman, 2007; Schneider et al., 2014; Vakil et al., 2003). The educators of

Reggio Emilia programs in Italy believed that children with special rights benefited socially, emotionally, and cognitively when integrated into classrooms with their typically developing peers (Edwards et al., 2012). Results from Vakil et al. who examined inclusion practices of Reggio Emilia early childhood programs in Italy indicated that the family-centered practices that were implemented in Reggio Emilia programs helped to promote positive inclusion outcomes for children with special rights.

# **Relationship with Educators**

Educators in Reggio Emilia programs worked alongside children as coconstructors in learning. One identified benefit for children who attended Reggio Emilia
early childhood programs was that children were seen as capable and competent (Smith,
2014; Swann, 2008). Schneider et al., investigated school transitions for children from
preschool to kindergarten in Reggio Emilia preschool programs in Italy (2014). Schneider
et al. displayed one identified benefit of Reggio Emilia philosophy was the way educators
focused on developing positive, nurturing, and loving relationships between educators
and students which resulted in positive preschool experiences for the students. Reggio
Emilia educators focused on supporting children socially and emotionally that resulted in
positive school liking and fewer problem behaviors with students (Schneider et al.).

#### **Motivation to Learn**

A strong motivation to learn has been identified as 1 benefit of children who attended Reggio Emilia inspired programs. Reggio Emilia philosophy was intentionally designed to include students in their learning experiences. In Reggio Emilia programs, students interests were identified and built upon with the goal to support a strong desire

to learn in children (Edwards et al., 2012). McClow and Gillespie (1998) conducted a qualitative study with interviews and focus groups of parents whose children attended a Reggio Emilia inspired Head Start program in Iowa. Results of McClow and Gillespie's qualitative study showed one benefit parents identified after their children attended a Reggio Emilia inspired program was that the children acquired strong motivations to learning (McClow & Gillespie, 1998). One parent participant explained that after her son attended the Reggio Emilia inspired program, her child was motivated to learn because his interests were followed because educators created curriculum that was meaningful to him (McClow & Gillespie, 1998).

### **Reggio Emilia Inspired Programs in the United States**

The Reggio Emilia philosophical approach to early childhood education has been studied and adapted in both private and public early childhood programs in the United States for years (Abdelfattah 2015; McClow & Gillespie, 1998; Swann, 2008). One of the problems American educators have faced was how to apply constructivist-based Reggio Emilia philosophy into classrooms in the United States (Hendrick, 1997; Mitchell et al., 2008; O'Donogue, 2011). Over the years and with the popularity of Reggio Emilia philosophy in the United States, progress was made to implement the philosophy appropriately by American educators, yet there still remained lack of understanding for how to apply Reggio Emilia tenets into American classrooms (Abdelfattah 2015; O'Donoghue, 2011).

As programs in the United States have incorporated Reggio Emilia philosophy into classrooms, the cultural underpinnings of the Italian culture were sometimes

misunderstood from American educators (Firlick, 1995; Henderick, 1997). Although programs in the United States may find inspiration from Reggio Emilia early childhood programs in Italy, the philosophy will never be replicated identically in American classrooms because of the cultural values of Italy that are embedded into the philosophy. Vatalaro et al. (2015) conducted a phenomenology study of American college students who visited Reggio Emilia early childhood programs in Italy. Results of the study displayed participants recognition of cultural differences and norms between programs in Reggio Emilia and the cultural norms in the United States (Vatalaro et al.).

Educators played a significant role in the implementation of Reggio Emilia practices in American classrooms. Early childhood programs in the United States have adopted, implemented, and were inspired by Reggio Emilia programs in Italy since the 1980s (Abdelfattah 2015; Bond, 2015; Hewett, 2001; McClow & Gillespie, 1998; Swann, 2008). McClow and Gillespie reported that American educators have studied and adapted Reggio Emilia approach into early childhood programs, private preschools, and in Head Start programs for years in the United States (1998). A comparative case study examined one private and one public Reggio Emilia inspired preschools in San Francisco, California (Abdelfattah, 2015). Results indicated that educator perceptions of Reggio Emilia practices was the most powerful predictor for proper implementation of Reggio Emilia philosophy into American classrooms (Abdelfattah, 2015).

Mitchell, Foulger, Wetzel, and Rathkey conducted a single case study with one educator who integrated practices of project-based Reggio Emilia style learning into her American public school classroom (2009). Results indicated that the American public

school educator succeeded in following the main tenets of Reggio Emilia philosophy and was also able to meet state and federal standards in her classroom (Mitchell et al.).

Although there were barriers to integrating, implementing, and following Reggio Emilia inspired practices from Italy into American classrooms, research displayed it was possible (Abdelfattah, 2015; Mitchell et al.; Parnell, 2012).

### Perceived Disadvantages of Reggio Emilia Inspired Programs in the United States

The purpose of the current study was to focus on perceived benefits of children who attended a Reggio Emilia inspired early childhood program in the American Midwest. To control for bias, it was important that disadvantages for using Reggio Emilia philosophy in the United States was also identified. Two studies with similar results indicated that it was difficult for educators in the United States to integrate the practices of Reggio Emilia philosophy into American classrooms (Abdelfattah, 2015; Elliott, 2005). The results of the studies from Abdelfattah (2015) and Elliott (2005) indicated that reasons for difficulty in the integration of Reggio Emilia practices included: an extreme requirement of labor intensive commitments from educators, changing from a teacher-directed practice to child-teacher centered practice, and adhering to standardized testing and state requirements. One educator participant in the research by Abdelfattah explained that because of district requirements put on children in kindergarten using Reggio Emilia philosophy in preschool while also meeting requirements of the state was not possible due to the slow, child-centered pace of the Reggio Emilia approach (Abdelfattah, 2015).

Another disadvantage identified by DeVries, Zan, Hildebrandt, Edmiaston, and Sales (2002) and Katz (1999) included American educators misunderstanding of the

meaning behind constructivist-based Reggio Emilia philosophy. Lack of understanding from educators resulted in too loosely structured classroom learning environments (DeVries, Zan, Hildebrandt, Edmiaston, & Sales, 2002; Katz, 1999). A third identified disadvantage for implementation of Reggio Emilia practices in American classrooms included educators and administrators misunderstanding how to integrate the theory of Reggio Emilia into actual classroom practices. Without a formal training, as in Montessori or High-Scope, staff struggled to learn how to follow Reggio Emilia philosophy in American classrooms (Abdelfattah, 2015; Henderick, 1997). Identified disadvantages from past research on Reggio Emilia approach were minimal in comparision to identified advantages of Reggio Emilia philosophy.

# **Explanation of Past Research Related to the Current Study**

Researchers have explored various aspects of Reggio Emilia early childhood philosophy. Past research that were relevant to the current study were included in books, seminal works, dissertations, and research studies that are listed in the following section.

### **Seminal Works**

The major seminal research that has been conducted on Reggio Emilia early childhood programs have included Firlick (1994, 1995); Gandini (1984, 2012); and New (1991, 1999, 1989). Literature from Firlick included information on Reggio Emilia philosophy from Italy and how the model has been adapted to programs in the United States. Gandini was the liaison between Reggio Emilia early childhood programs in Italy and the United States. Gandini wrote numerous books and journal articles on Reggio Emilia related topics. Gandini has been an active part developing and continuing the

relationship between Italian and American educators. New investigated the main tenets of Reggio Emilia philosophy and included strategies for using the Italian philosophy in America

# Studies with Similar Scope and Rationale for Research

The rationale for the selection of the current research topic was based on the gap in literature along with suggestions for future research given by authors of dissertations that were aligned with the current research focus, problem, and questions:

- Herrington (2014) conducted a quantitative study that examined parental choice for their children enrolled in early childhood programs in the United States. For future research, Herrington suggested continuing to conduct research in the field of early childhood education to promote awareness of the importance of high-quality programs to possibly result in more high-quality program options for families in the future. The results of Herrington's research concluded that more literature needed to be conducted on how specific program philosophies influenced high-quality early childhood experiences for children (2014). To support Herrington's suggestion, the current study investigated parental choice for choosing one early childhood program, the constructivist-based Reggio Emilia program over alternatives.
- Stowell (2014) investigated experiences of children who attended Reggio
   Emilia inspired kindergarten programs through an educational qualitative
   study. Stowell observed two Reggio Emilia inspired programs in the

United States, and focused on if an arts-based education was an effective learning model. From Stowell's study, future research was suggested to add more literature for stakeholders who are developing curriculum for kindergartens. The future research would seek to understand the benefits and effectiveness of an arts-based program such as Reggio Emilia versus curriculum that is developed for high-stakes testing that is "teaching to the test". My study investigated one aspect of Stowell's suggested future research and examined benefits of an arts-based Reggio Emilia inspired early childhood program. The intended results of my current study aligned with the suggestion from Stowell to add more literature for stakeholders to help understand benefits of an arts-based curriculum like Reggio Emilia.

- Andrews (2012) conducted a quantitative study that examined the effectiveness of kindergarten readiness skills that were acquired by students based on the preschool philosophical model that they attended.

  Reggio Emilia philosophy was 1 of the 3 preschool philosophical models selected. Andrews recommended future in-depth studies on each preschool curriculum model and my study followed Andrews recommendation that investigated the Reggio Emilia curriculum model more in-depth (2012).
- Mathis (2011) investigated experiences of using social constructivist
   Reggio Emilia philosophy in a state funded preschool program in
   California. Mathis used a qualitative research design and investigated how
   educators and administrators effectively used a Reggio Emilia social

constructivist-based preschool program in their school. From the results, Mathis (2011) suggested that early childhood leaders needed to advocate for developmentally appropriate practices and the recognition of a strong image of the child in all early childhood programs, as it is in Reggio Emilia programs. My anticipated contribution for the current study was to fulfill Mathis' suggestion and showed how Reggio Emilia early childhood programs can be developmentally appropriate for young children.

• Recchia and Bentley (2013) investigated parental perceptions for their children's preschool experiences after the children attended a play-based, child-centered program to understand benefits on the children's preparation for kindergarten. Similar to Recchia and Bentley, the current study examined benefits parents identified of their children's Reggio Emilia early childhood program experiences (2013).

### Strengths and Weaknesses of Literature Related to the Research Problem

Researchers have not addressed the identical current research problem, but other researchers have explored similar topics that were related to the current research topic. One weakness found in past research approaches that investigated similar research topics was the lack of context explained of the philosophy of Reggio Emilia in their studies (Andrews, 2012; Smith 2014; Zorec, 2015). It was vital to give context to Reggio Emilia philosophy as the philosophy may be complex to understand and an explanation should have been included in all past research related to Reggio Emilia philosophy.

A second weakness in past research was that some researchers used a quantitative research design to investigate the similar research problem of the current study (Andrews, 2012; Herrington, 2014; Zorec, 2015). A qualitative design approach may have been more in line with what approach should have been used because qualitative design produced holistic results (Abdelfattah, 2015; Merz & Swim, 2011; Mitchell et al., 2009; Recchia and Bentley, 2013). One strength of McClow and Gillespie's approach was that they included parents as participants and used focus groups of parents as the data collection method and resulted in an investigation of the problem from a parental perspective (1998).

# Studies with Phenomenological Approach

The phenomenological research design approach was selected for the current study because the intention of the research questions was to examine parental experiences for their children that attended a Reggio Emilia inspired program in the American Midwest. A phenomenology design fit the research questions best and supported examination on the deepest level. Reggio Emilia inspired programs are unique and in order for outsiders to understand how the program philosophy was implemented, a phenomenology design was necessary. Vatalaro et al. used a phenomenological research design that investigated lived experiences of five pre-service educator participants from the United States during a two-week study abroad program to the early childhood programs in Reggio Emilia, Italy (2015). Vatalaro et al. explained that the phenomenology research design was chosen for their study because it helped to deeply understand how participants experienced learning about Reggio Emilia program

philosophy. In-depth interviews were the main data collection tool that was used in order to gain insights into participants' experiences through the phenomenology (Vatalaro et al.). Similar to Vatalaro et al., the phenomenology research design was chosen for the current study to deeply uncover the experiences of parents who chose a Reggio Emilia inspired program in the American Midwest for their children. Vatalaro et al. used horizontilization as in my current study and highlighted significant statements that were relevant to participants experiences, identified significant statements that were clustered into common themes, and shared results that were compiled into a list of themes with detailed descriptions and quotes from participants.

A phenomenological study was conducted an investigation of the lived experiences of two masters students from Portland State University, in Oregon, who attended a study tour in Reggio Emilia, Italy (Parnell, 2012). The purpose of the study from Parnell was to record the shared lived experiences of students who attended a study tour in Reggio Emilia, Italy in order to share the experiences with other students who were unable to attend the tour. My choice of phenomenology research deisgn was similar to Parnell in that my purpose was to share lived experiences of parents who choose to send their child to a Reggio Emilia inspired early childhood program (2012).

### **Summary and Conclusions**

Understanding the history of Reggio Emilia early childhood programs from Italy along with main tenets of the model gave context to the current study. Past studies have investigated benefits identified with children who have attended Reggio Emilia programs such as creative thinking and art skills and the value placed on relationships between

children, families, and educators (Elliott, 2005; McClow, Gillespie, 1998; Swann, 2008). Past studies have examined aspects of Reggio Emilia philosophy that included the investigation of main tenets of the approach such as viewing children as capable (Zorec, 2015). Investigations of how the Italian model of education was implemented into American classrooms have been explored (Abdelfattah 2015; Bond, 2015; Hewett, 2001; McClow & Gillespie, 1998; Swann, 2008). Past literature has been conducted on how relationships play a vital role in the Reggio Emilia philosophy (Schneider et al., 2014). Investigations of study tours in the Italian Reggio Emilia early childhood programs were investigated by researchers to understand the implications for educator professional development, to further understand the Reggio Emilia practices, and learn the cultural underpinnings of the philosophy (Parnell, 2012; Vatarlaro et al., 2015). Past research was conducted to understand why parents chose to send their children to one philosophical program over alternative options was investigated as well as research that investigated benefits associated with children that attended early childhood programs (Grogan, 2011; Hatcher et al., 2012; Recchia & Bentley, 2013; Smith, 2014). Yet, there remained a gap in literature that investigated experiences from parents who chose a constructivist-based Reggio Emilia inspired program for their children and examined perceived benefits for their children who attended.

To support the overarching problem of the current study, past studies were included that focused on the investigation of benefits for a constructivist-based learning approach versus a traditional learning approach. Mathis (2011) investigated the constructivist-based learning model and Recchia and Bentley (2013) investigated how a

play-based learning philosophy contributed to learning in a Reggio Emilia inspired programs. Questions remained unanswered in past research in terms of perceived benefits for constructivist-based Reggio Emilia programs in the United States. There appeared to be a limited amount of research conducted on how Reggio Emilia pedagogy was implemented into early childhood programs in the United States.

A minimal amount of research was conducted on the constructivist-based Reggio Emilia program and specifically that examined students who have attended a Reggio Emilia inspired programs in the United States with associated benefits for children who attended (Abdelfattah, 2015; Elliott, 2005; Swann, 2008). From my investigation, there appeared to be a lack of past studies that investigated parental choice and overall experiences for choosing a Reggio Emilia program over alternative programs for their children in the United States. The anticipated results of the current study attempted to fill the gap in the literature to find out from parents their overall lived experiences of a constructivist-based Reggio Emilia philosophy and how this type of program benefited their children (Apple, 2008; Brown, 2015). Chapter 3 will include a full description of how the gap in literature was investigated through a phenomenology research design specifically to find deeper understanding of experiences and perceived benefits from parents that chose a Reggio Emilia inspired program in the American Midwest for their children.

### Chapter 3: Research Method

#### Introduction

The current phenomenological study's purpose was to investigate parents' experiences who chose a Reggio Emilia inspired early childhood program for their children as well as associated benefits after their children attended a Reggio Emilia inspired program in the American Midwest. Chapter 3 will include the research method for the current study with details on the research design and rationale, the role of the researcher, the methodology used, issues of trustworthiness, and a summary.

### **Research Design and Rationale**

The following research questions provided direction to the current study:

- 1. What were the lived experiences of parents who chose to enroll their children in a constructivist-based Reggio Emilia inspired early childhood program?
- 2. What associated benefits did parents perceive were achieved by enrolling their child in Reggio Emilia inspired program?

A phenomenology research design was chosen for the current study because the intended outcomes fit best with a qualitative phenomenology research design. One alternative qualitative research design, the case study, was considered. However, the research goal of investigating the lived experiences of parents whose children attended a Reggio Emilia inspired program would not have been accomplished from the case study design because it would have lacked the depth that was intended to discover (see Creswell, 2013).

#### Role of the Researcher

As the sole researcher of the current study, I was responsible for all aspects of the study. The first step included meeting with the gatekeeper of the chosen collection site to learn more about the data collection site. Next, an evaluation and investigation of the chosen program was conducted if it was evident that the program had integrated Reggio Emilia philosophy into daily practice. After my visit, it was obvious that the program had integrated the main tenets of Reggio Emilia philosophy into their daily practice and Foundations Early Learning Center was chosen as the data collection site. The gatekeeper agreed to allow me to conduct research at Foundations Early Learning Center. The gatekeeper reached out to possible parent participants through e-mail and explained my study to them. Each parent who was interested in participating in my study was given an informed consent form through e-mail and my email address to contact me if interested. The parent participants were required to send back the informed consent form to me before I set up interviews with each parent.

Next, a list of questions to ask participants during interviews related to the 2 research questions were created. Individual interviews with parent participants were scheduled, conducted, and audio-recorded. All 5 parent participants agreed to audio-recorded interviews and audio files from the interviews were sent to an online transcription service to be transcribed. After transcriptions were received from me, each parent participant were given the opportunity to examine their individual transcriptions for accuracy. Each parent approved of the transcripts for accuracy and last the transcripts were analyzed and coded (see Maxwell, 2013; see Miles, Huberman, & Saldana, 2014).

Incentives were not given to parents in an effort to gain participation in my study. My relationship with the gatekeeper, the director at the data collection site, was established for the purpose of the current study and we did not have a previous personal or professional relationship established before the data collection site was chosen.

## Methodology

### **Participant Selection Logic**

Selected participants for the current study were parents of children who attended a Reggio Emilia inspired early childhood program, Foundations Early Learning Center, in the American Midwest. Participants met certain criterion requirements and all parents experienced the exact phenomenon (see Creswell, 2013). A purposeful sampling strategy was used to select 5 to 10 parent participants who shared the same phenomenon of choosing to send their children to the data collection site, a Reggio Emilia inspired program in the American Midwest. The criteria for parent participants included selecting parents who chose to send their child to a constructivist-based Reggio Emilia inspired program, the Foundations Early Learning Center, and that one of their children had to be enrolled in the program for at least 6 months.

Purposeful sampling determined the choice of the data collection site. I researched the data collection site's website online and visited the data collection site to ensure there was evidence that the program integrated the theory of Reggio Emilia philosophy into daily classroom practice. Throughout my search to find a data collection site, I searched and toured 10 possible sites before I chose Foundations Early Learning Center. Many early childhood programs claimed to be Reggio Emilia inspired, yet after observations in

the programs it was evident that in daily practice main tenets of the Reggio Emilia philosophy were not being implemented into classroom practices. I chose the data collection site, Foundations Early Learning Center, by following the steps outlined below:

- A recommendation by Kaminsky, North American Reggio Emilia Alliance

  (NAREA) Exhibit Project Coordinator and Innovations Editor, was to choose
  an early childhood program that was "identified as a center that engaged in
  some form of study of the Reggio Emilia approach and their work has been
  influenced as a result."
- I chose an early childhood program listed on the NAREA website because Reggio Emilia inspired programs that are listed on the website have been identified as following the Reggio Emilia program philosophy.
- A checklist of main tenets that were developed by Italian Reggio Emilia
  educators and were explained in an educational pamphlet named, "Indications
  Preschools and Infant-Toddler Centres of the Municipality of Reggio Emilia"
  (Istituizone of the Municipality of Reggio Children, 2010) was used to
  determine if the data collection site implemented the main tenets of Reggio
  Emilia philosophy into their program.
- The data collection site was chosen in a geographic location that had at least five other early childhood program options for parents to choose from within a 30-minute driving distance.

# Sampling

An average sample size for a phenomenology research study is between three and 15 participants (Creswell, 2013). Out of 22 possible parent participants, five parents agreed to be a part of my study. For the current study, data gathered from five parent participants gave substantial number of participants that established validity and reached saturation (Maxwell, 2013). Parent participants were recruited through an invitation to participate letter that was e-mailed to all possible parent participants. The invitation to participate letter explained the details of my study and asked for participants to participate through agreeing to be interviewed at least once for a period between one and one and a half hours. All interviews were conducted at the data collection site at hours that were convenient for the parent, educators, and administration of Foundations Early Learning Center. Parents who did not agree to be a part of my study explained that it was too challenging for them to be a part of the study because they did not have the time. A sample that requires participation from parents of young children was difficult because of the already stressful load of responsibilities parents of young children have. Agreeing to be in a study that was voluntary was not feasible for many parents of young children.

#### Instrumentation

From the reccomendations for phenomenology research, the 5 parent participants in the current study were sufficient to meet saturation. To ensure the data collected for my study was sufficient, the recommendation from Moustakas (1994) was followed and in-depth interviews were conducted with each parent participant. My data collection instrument for interviews with parents included my own interview questions. Interview

questions were designed with a combination of questions related to the research questions, kept the conversation moving in the right direction, and encrouraged in-depth and detailed responses (Rubin & Rubin, 2012). Relevant follow-up questions were asked to gain more information about participants answers and to give participants the ability to elaborate on their answers. Rubin and Rubin's guide was used and integrated specifically with their suggested responsive interviewing techniques in the creation of my interview questions (2012).

# Procedures for Recruitment, Participation, and Data Collection

Table 1

Data Collection Information

Data	Sources for Instrument	Frequency	Duration	How Will	Follow-Up Plan
collection	Development			Data be	
process				Recorded?	
Data were	Moustakas, C. (1994).	1 Time per	1-1.5	Audio	After interviews, I
collected	Phenomenological	participant.	hours	Recorder	had audio-files
through	Research Methods.		each.	and Cell	transcribed. I
participant	Thousands Oaks, CA:			Phone.	privately sent
interviews at	SAGE Publications,				individual
the data	Inc.				participants
collection					transcriptions from
site by me	&				their interviews to
J					give them the
	Rubin, H.J. & Rubin,				opportunity to find
	I.S. (2012).				errors.
	Qualitative				
	Interviewing. (Third				Results of the
	Edition). Thousand				current study will
	Oaks, CA: SAGE				be shared with the
	Publications, Inc.				families and staff at
	,				Foundations Early
					Learning Center
					after the
					dissertation will be
					approved.

All five participants exited the study with a short debrief and explanation of future expectations from participants. After 2 to 4 weeks, transcriptions of each parent interview were given to each parent and examined to ensure for accuracy. All participants approved of their transcripted interviews and follow-up interviews were not needed.

### **Data Analysis Plan**

The first step in the data analysis plan for the current study was to have audio files of parent participant interviews transcribed. Each transcription included a full, accurate, word-for-word written summary of all questions and answers asked to participants for each audio-recorded interview (Rubin & Rubin, 2012). From the written transcripts, participant responses were read several times. Through reading the transcripts, significant statements were identified. Significant statements were then clustered into codes (Creswell, 2013; Rubin & Rubin, 2012). To generate meaning of the interviews, codes were examined and then grouped together with other codes that shared similar meanings. A textural and structural description was then written that described the essence of the phenomenon from the results of the participants interviews. The textural and structural descriptions were organized and compiled into results of the study by corresponding codes that answered to each appropriate research question (Miles et al., 2014; Moustakas, 1994). The results of the current study were shared in chapter 4 in the format of a story and organized in sections based on themes that emerged from the two research questions (Sutton & Austin, 2015). Quotes of participants' responses from the interviews were added in the story and provided insight into the lived experiences of the parents participants.

### **Data Analysis Computer Programs**

A combination of the qualitative analysis program, Quirkos, and word processor, Microsoft Word, was used to analyze interview data for the current study. Quirkos is a software system that was created in 2013 that helps manage, sort, code, and understand data (Quirkos, 2018). Descriptive coding was used in the current study that assigned labels to data and summarized lines from the interviews into short words or phrases (Miles et al., 2014). To compliment coding analysis that was done with Quirkos Microsoft Word was also used. Mircrosoft Word was used to record basic demographic information of each participant with details about each interview such as when and where the interview was conducted was documented in Word. I recorded notes in a Microsoft Word document after each interview with possible improvements, thoughts, and any notes that were relevant

#### **Issues of Trustworthiness**

Bracketing was used for the current study to control for my own personal researcher bias that helped me to become aware of assumptions I brought to my research through my personal experiences related to Reggio Emilia philosophy (see Moustaka, 1994). The bracketing or epoche process was intended to remove researcher bias from the research, "In the epoche, we set aside our prejudgements, biases, and preconceived ideas about things" (Moustakas, 1994, pg. 85). To establish credibility and dependability as the primary researcher, my personal and professional information was documented and reflected on related to Reggio Emilia experiences that included: (Patton, 2015)

- Worked in Reggio Emilia inspired early childhood programs from 2004-2013, including the reputable Reggio Emilia inspired Google Children's Center in Mountain View, California.
- Lived in Torino, Italy for 1 and a half years.
- Attended The Hundred Languages of Children Wonder of Learning Exhibit from Reggio Emilia, Italy multiple times.
- NAREA member for 6 years.
- An advisory committee member for The Hundred Languages of Children-Wonder of Learning Exhibit in Ann Arbor, Michigan for the summer of 2017.
- Hosted and led workshops and presentations on various aspects of Reggio
   Emilia inspired philosophy for educators, parents, and community
   members.

Moustaka explained the importance of remaining unbiased in a phenomenology, "In phenomenological studies the investigator abstains from making suppositions, focuses on a specific topic freshly and naively, constructs a question or problem to guide the study, and derives findings that will provide the basis for future research and reflection" (1994, pg. 47). To add confirmability to the current study, perceived disadvantages associated with Reggio Emilia inspired programs in the United States were included in chapter two. The last strategy I used that contributed to dependability was through member checking. Member checking ensured that parent participants agreed that the information recorded during the interviews was accurate.

Transferability refers to the degree to which the results of a qualitative study can be generalized or transferred to other contexts or settings (Creswell, 2013). A rich description of the data collection site was included with a table of basic demographic information of each parent participant. Through the explanation of the context, setting, and participant information of the current study, future researchers will understand details of my study to ensure appropriateness of transferability to future research. In terms of confirmability, a reflexive journal with notes and memos was recorded during the whole data analysis process. The journal included my own thoughts and feelings from my perspective as the researcher after I conducted each interview (Rubin & Rubin, 2012). I established Microsoft Word and included information on the process of my literature review with notes on each journal, book, or resource and also contributed to confirmability of the current study.

#### **Ethical Procedures**

Approval from the Internal Review Board (IRB) were given that ensured the current study was following ethical procedures during the research process (approval number 09-21-17-030528). Before the data collection process began written permission from each parent participant was obtained through an informed consent form (Creswell, 2013). An informed consent form was created in Microsoft Word for all parent participants that included an explanation of the right to participate or withdraw at any time, the purpose of the study, procedures that were used for collection of data, an explanation of confidentiality protection, known risks of participation in the study, expected benefits of participants, and a signature from all participants (Creswell, 2013).

All data was kept confidential between participants and myself. Pseudonyms were given to all parent participants to protect their identities.

Ethical concerns were addressed during the recruitment process. One ethical concern that was addressed in the current study was to build a relationship with the gatekeeper in order to gain her trust from me as the resarcher (Rubin & Rubin, 2012). Another ethical concern was to be respectful of participants. In the current study, parents time was respected because parents were given the ability to chose what time and day worked best to conduct their interviews. I also honored all promises made to participants and did not pressure on parents to participate (Rubin & Rubin, 2012). Another ethical concern was to gain permission from participants to audio-record interviews. Before each interview, verbal permission from parent participants were given to audio-record.

### **Summary**

Chapter 3 included an overview of the methodology for the current study with justification for why a phenomenology was the chosen research design. A detailed explanation of my role as the primary researcher was explained with an inclusion of how the current study was controlled for researcher bias. A participation selection logic with procedures for recruitment, participation, and data collection details were also given. An explanation of the data collection instruments that were used during interviews were included. Issues of trustworthiness and ethical considerations were explained to give credibility, dependability, transferability, and confirmability for the current research. A data analysis plan was explained that aligned with the phenomenology approach to the study. In chapter 4, readers will be given an overview of results for the current research

study with information on the setting of the data collection site, demographics of parent participants, data collection and analysis methods, evidence of trustworthiness, results, and summary will be included.

#### Chapter 4: Results

#### Introduction

The investigation of parents who chose a constructivist-based Reggio Emilia program for their children guided the current study. The first research question for the current study was designed to explore the lived experiences of parents who chose to enroll their children in a constructivist-based Reggio Emilia inspired early childhood program. The second research question was designed to find the associated benefits that parents perceived after they enrolled their children in a Reggio Emilia inspired program. The structure of Chapter 4 will include a brief description of the data collection site, demographics of parent participants, the process of data collection, the data analysis procedures, evidence of trustworthiness, results organized by their corresponding research questions, and a summary.

### Setting

One challenge of the current study was to find a data collection site that was putting the theory of Reggio Emilia philosophy into daily practice. Reggio Emilia philosophy has been adapted from the infant, toddler, and preschool programs in Reggio Emilia, Italy. Although early childhood programs outside of Reggio Emilia, Italy may find inspiration from the original Reggio Emilia programs, there will never be a program outside of the original schools that are able to fully replicate the Italian programs. The cultural influence of Reggio Emilia philosophy is deep seeded in the Italian culture. Every Reggio Emilia inspired program has implemented the philosophy of Reggio Emilia in varying degrees (Abdelfattah, 2015; McClow & Gillespie, 1998).

The chosen data collection site was in the American Midwest and was a Reggio Emilia inspired early childhood program for 12 years. After I researched and toured over 10 possible data collection sites, Foundations Early Learning Center was chosen as the research site for the current study. It was evident through my observations of the school and classroom environments that Foundations Early Learning Center was committed to following Reggio Emilia philosophy. It was visible that Foundations Early Learning Center had integrated the main tenets of Reggio Emilia philosophy into the daily practices through my observations of the educators interactions with children, classroom environments, materials offered to students, documentation, and the overall evidence in the program.

## **Demographics**

All participants in the study were parents of children who attended the same Reggio Emilia inspired early childhood program in the American Midwest, Foundations Early Learning Center, for at least 6 months. Pseudonyms were given to protect the real identities of participants and the data collection site. Participation was voluntary and was explained in the invitation to participate letter (see Appendix A) that was emailed to each possible parent participant. An informed consent form was required by each parent that wanted to participante and it was made clear in the consent form that participants could leave the study at any time. The participants in the study included parents of children who were all enrolled in the same preschool classroom at Reggio Emilia inspired early childhood program, Foundations Early Learning Center. There were a total of 5 parent participants who agreed to be in my study out of 22 possible participants. All 5

participants were White, female, and had obtained an education of a bachelor's degree.

Demographic information that was collected after the study indicated that all participants were married and had household incomes over \$100,000.

Table 2

Participant Demographics

Name	Age	Gender	Ethnicity	Education Status	Number of	Household Income
					Children	meome
1. Katy	41	Female	White	Bachelor in Education	2	Over
Smith						\$100,000
2. Jakie	36	Female	White	Bachelor	4	Over
Marshall						\$100,000
3. Katherine	47	Female	White	Bachelor	1	Over
Johnson						\$100,000
4. Sally	32	Female	White	Bachelor in Education	2	Over
Jones						\$100,000
5. Jenifer	37	Female	White	Bachelor	3	Over
Michaels						\$100,000

*Note.* Pseudonyms were given to each participant.

### **Data Collection**

Data were collected from 5 parent participants that uncovered the chosen phenomenon and answered research questions through in-depth interviews. All in-depth interviews lasted between one and one and a half hours each. All interviews were held at the Foundations Early Learning Center in a private classroom or art studio. All interviews for five participants were conducted with each individual within a time frame of 2 weeks. The interviews were conducted one time per participant at a time of day that was convienent for both the participant and myself. Interviews were audio-recorded with permission from participants in two ways: an I-Phone and with an Olympus digital voice recorder.

### **Data Analysis**

Specific methods suggested by Moustakas (1994) supported data analysis for the current phenomenological study. A modification of the Stevick-Colaizzi-Keen method that Moustakas explained provided the most practical and useful approach for my study (Moustakas, 1994). All steps of the coding process for the current study were journaled and recorded to ensure validity. The first step in data analysis was to get audio files from participant interviews transcribed into transcription documents. A reputable online transcription service, transcribe.com, was used to transcribed parent interviews. Once the transcripts were completed from transcribe.com and they were received electronically, the transcripts were read and analyzed to check for grammatical errors and inaccuracy.

After transcripts were reviewed once, they were re-read with precodes and preliminary notes taken from me. Preliminary notes were taken to identify interesting points related to the research questions and precoded by identifying possible codes (see Saldana, 2016). After this process of precoding and note jotting in the transcript documents, a digital copy of the interviewed transcripts were uploaded into the qualitative data analysis program, Quirkos. In Quirkos, the interview transcripts were examined individually and codes were identified. In the Quirkos program, one bubble represented one identified code, category, or theme that emerged from transcripts of the parent interviews. The two research questions were used as guides to identify codes (see Saldana, 2016). First, I self-coded a list of codes that were salient or essence-capturing from transcripts. Next, categories were created that organized codes under similar ideas. Subcategories were also created that were related to content of categories but still needed

a section of their own. Codes were created based on relevant words or ideas within a chunk of text that explained the two research questions of the current study.

Inductive coded units were moved to larger representations of categories and themes through an evaluation process. Codes were evaluated to ensure that they were related to the two research questions. The research questions were used to examine lived experiences of parents who chose to enroll their child in a constructivist-based Reggio Emilia inspired program and preceived benefits that children aquired after enrollement in the Reggio Emilia program. Due to the depth of the research questions, a large number of codes emerged (see Saldana, 2016). The process of qualitative inquiry demands meticulous attention and deep reflection on patterns that emerge when coding (Saldana, 2016). For the current study, codes, and categories were refined and recoded multiple times. Second cycle coding and theoretical coding were implemented to rearrange, reclassify, and group code data into categories and themes that were different, new, or remained the same (see Lichtman, 2006). The process of later level coding included using my own sound judgement, reading between the lines, and identifying salient features of the raw data. The creation of themes from codes and categories required sorting codes into an order that corresponded with the research questions that represented a specific idea (Saldana, 2016).

A total of 1,411 codes were found from five parent interviews that lasted between one and one and a half hours in length. Out of all five parent participant transcribed interviews, there were a total of 97 quotes from Michaels, 193 from Johnson, 242 from Johns, 335 from Marshall, and 544 from Smith. There were 10 categories that emerged

and were organized into 34 subcategories. One category was Reggio Emilia philospohy with the subcategories of documentation, morning meeting, one hundred languages, community, and small groups. Lichtman (2006) projected that in qualitative educational research codes will be generated and organized into 15-20 categories that will be synthesized into five to seven major themes. Some of the significant codes that emerged in the current study included program, choice, education, Reggio Emilia, educator approach, materials, satisfaction, social-emotional, classroom environment, interactive, family, active, not traditional, process, learning, and children.

After the coding was finished, a textural description was compiled that described what participants in the study experienced with the phenomenon; this process of "textural description" described the lived experiences through verbatim examples from the parent interviews (see Moustakas, 1994). Data from parent interviews about how parents described their lived experiences were included in a structural description that reflected the setting and context in which the phenomenon was experienced. Significant verbatim quotes from parent participant interveiws are included in the results that were relevant to the identified themes. An example of a verbatim quote that was included under theme two of Research Question 1 "informed decision through program tours" was from parent participant Smith: "Through our tour, just watching the way that the teachers were interacting with the kids and letting them kind of set the tone sparked my interest. I started to understand the philosophy behind Reggio Emilia." Verbatim quotes are used to add credibility to the results.

All 5 parent participants shared similar lived experiences and identified similar beneficial aspects after their children attended a Reggio Emilia inspired program. Most parents confirmed similar results in a positive direction for their child who attended a Reggio Emilia inspired program. The one concern described from parent participant Johns was a concern she had for her daughter who had not yet learned how to write the letters in her name after being at Foundations Early Learning Center for 6 months. The underlying quality of this discrepant case from Johns was the expectation of hand-writing from educators in a Reggio Emilia inspired preschool program that differed from John's personal expectation. Out of 242 quotes total from Johns, there was one discrepant quote. The rest of the quotes from Johns showed favor for choosing Reggio Emilia philosophy for her child despite her one concern.

#### **Evidence of Trustworthiness**

A variety of measures were implemented in my study to ensure credibility, transferability, dependability, and confirmability of results.

## **Credibility and Transferability**

One strategy that was implemented in the current study to ensure the credibility was member checking to check that the information from the interviews was accurate (see Creswell, 2013). Two weeks after 5 parent participant interviews were conducted, emailed transcriptions of the individual interviews were securely sent to each participant. All 5 participants reviewed the transcripts and verified that the transcripts were accurate. Validation of the credibility of interviewed transcripts was conducted with member checking. In the previous Setting and Demographics sections, detailed information about

the setting of the data collection site as well as comprehensive data on each parent participant was given with the intention that future researchers may transfer results of the current study to related future research.

### **Dependability and Confirmability**

As described in Chapter 3, epoche was implemented as a strategy to create dependability in the current phenomenological research study (see Moustokas, 1994). A description of my own personal experiences and biases were controlled by reflection on the biases. The purpose of epoche was to attempt to temporarily suspend my personal biases, perspectives, and assumptions on the subject matter (Lin, 2013). To provide dependability and credibility, a journal entry was recorded after interviews were conducted with each parent participant. Through journals, results of the data collection process may be confirmed to contribute to confirmability of the current study.

#### **Results**

The findings of the current phenomenological study will be shared in the format of a story and organized in sections based on themes that emerged from the two research questions that guided the current study (see Sutton & Austin, 2015). The first research question of the current study was focused on the lived experiences of parents who chose a constructivist-based Reggio Emilia program for their children. Results from the first research question displayed that parents chose a constructivist-based Reggio Emilia inspired program after parents conducted their own research to find out what Reggio Emilia philosophy was. The second theme that emerged was that parents made an informed decision by touring Foundations Early Learning Center as well as alternative

program options. The third theme was that parents chose a Reggio Emilia inspired program based an intrinsic feeling. Theme 4 that emerged from the current study was that parents purposely chose against a traditional, nonconstructivist-based approach to early childhood education. The final theme that emerged from Research Question 1 was that parents found satisfaction when they chose a Reggio Emilia inspired program over nonconstructivist based programs.

Ten core themes were developed that helped answer Research Question 2 on parents' identified benefits after their children attended a Reggio Emilia inspired program. The first benefit was that children were given opportunites daily to be creative. A second perceived benefit was the individualized care and learning that was given from the educators at the Reggio Emilia inspired program. A third associated benefit identified from parent participants was the Reggio Emilia approach to learning that was interest, inquiry, and project-based. Theme number 4 was that value that was placed on communication and documentation. The fifth theme identified the intentional classroom envrionment and choice of materials offered to the children. Another theme that emerged from the second research question was the unique approach educators in Reggio Emilia inspired classrooms had when they worked with children. Theme 7 was that children were viewed as capable. An eighth theme was the authentic relationships and focus on the social-emotional development in children at the Reggio Emilia inspired program. For Theme 9, parents identified that constructivist-based learning was an associated benefit at Foundations Early Learning Center. The final theme identified from parents was the

benefit their children acquired from being given nature and outside classroom experiences daily.

### Themes Based on Research Question 1

Understanding the lived experiences of parents whose children attended a Reggio Emilia inspired program in the American Midwest, Foundations Early Learning Center, was the focus of the first research question. In the study, lived experiences describes the first-hand practices of the parent participants who were members of the same group of people that experienced the phenomenon (see Moustakas, 1994). The investigation of a group of parents who have chosen a nontraditional approach to preschool education for their children was the unique phenomenon explored. The results of the in-depth interviews helped to answer the first research question and was organized in five themes and described in detail in the following sections.

## Theme 1: Research of Reggio Emilia Philosophy by Parents

One of the goals of the current study was to understand the process of parents who chose to enroll their children in a Reggio Emilia program over alternative programs. Results displayed that all five parent participants did not have prior knowledge of what Reggio Emilia philosophy was before they enrolled their child at Foundations Early Learning Center. Most participants conducted research to learn more about Reggio Emilia philosophy before they enrolled their child at Foundations Early Learning Center. Michaels, mother of three with one child currently enrolled in the preschool room at Foundations Early Learning Center explained,

I found a book at the library that explained everything about Reggio Emilia. The Foundations Early Learning Center's website does a good job in explaining it too. After my own research, before I started my son at Foundations, I had a pretty good idea of how things were theoretically going to run.

Another participant, Johnson, who was the mother of one son that was currently enrolled in the preschool at Foundations Early Learning Center described that she never knew anything about Reggio Emilia approach before she met two people while working who recommended a Reggio Emilia preschool for her son. Johnson explained how she made the choice and decided on a Reggio Emilia program, "I met a preschool teacher who worked at a Reggio Emilia pilot program and she recommended a Reggio Emilia early childhood program for my son. I'm like what is this Reggio. So, I went home and googled it". Like Johnson, Johns, whose four year old was currently enrolled in the preschool had a bachelors degree in education explained that when she first heard of Reggio Emilia she did not have any knowledge of what the philosophy was. Johns said, "When I first heard Reggio Emilia I was like, what does that mean. I was not quite sure. But, I knew it was good, I promise it is good." Johns further explained her experience in finding the Reggio Emilia inspired program,

After I toured the school, I went home and researched the philosophy and it sounded great. I mean, what sounds bad about Reggio Emilia? It was important for me to find a program that had a strong background in curriculum because I know with my degree that I did not want to put my kid just anywhere. It was

important for me to find something that had good reviews. All the reviews I read were really positive.

Smith, mother of two children with one daughter currently enrolled in the preschool at Foundations and her other child was currently enrolled in kindergarten and had attended Foundations for two years explained, "I really didn't know about Reggio Emilia philosophy until I started reading about it. It just made sense. The more I watched, learned, and interacted with the teachers and the kids and everything, I really started to get it".

Marshall, mother of four with one daughter currently enrolled in the preschool room at Foundations Early Learning Center, discussed her family's decision to enroll after she researched what Reggio Emilia philosophy was,

That's why we chose Foundations Early Learning Center over alternative programs because I didn't know a lot about the Reggio method. But, the only things I knew was that it was nature based and it was child led. Reggio Emilia philosophy meant nothing to me when I first was looking. I had no idea what it meant, I had no idea it was even out there. Until I did a little bit of research and studied it. Just the nature and student-led learning was enough for me to choose to enroll my daughter there.

### **Theme 2: Informed Decision through Program Tours**

All five participants toured alternative early childhood program options before they chose and enrolled their children at Foundations Early Learning Center. The alternative early childhood program approaches that parent participants toured included

Montessori, and traditional more structured, sit-down program approaches. Smith described her decision to choose Reggio Emilia inspired Foundations Early Learning Center after she observed the Reggio Emilia approach in action, "Through our tour, just watching the way that the teachers were interacting with the kids and letting them kind of set the tone sparked my interest. I started to understand the philosophy behind Reggio Emilia". Smith told how she toured three alternative early childhood programs for her son before she chose Foundations Early Learning Center because of the intrinsic feeling she had,

We toured a private preschool that we enrolled our child in for a little while before we found out about and toured Foundations. We really liked the teachers at the private preschool, but I'm like, "This is just not the right fit." Like circle time for a half an hour is a really long time and my husband and I both agreed that we needed something that was a little bit more flexible and easy-going and would just meet our son where he was. We took a tour of Foundations program and as soon as I walked through the door, I knew that this was it.

After Marshall attended an open house at Foundations Early Learning Center she compared what she experienced at alternative programs,

My number one reason for choosing this program was having my children be in a program that focused on nurturing and compassion. After going to the open house and hearing their students talking to each other stood out to me. When I toured other schools it wasn't like that. The students that come from Foundations Early Learning Center seem to be more compassionate, more patient, and more

respectful. That was what I wanted to make sure that my daughter got out of her experience in an early childhood program.

## Theme 3: Intrinsic Feeling for Choosing Reggio Emilia Program

Participants described that after they toured Foundations Early Learning Center, they chose the program based on an intrinsic feeling that they got at the Reggio Emilia inspired program. Marshall described the intrinsic feeling she got when she toured Foundations Early Learning Center, "We came to an open house and the staff was so helpful. We had lots of questions, but by the time we left we didn't have a concern. We knew this was the place we were going to choose". Johnson toured a Montessori program for her son and was interested, but after she toured Foundations Early Learning Center she explained,

I walked into Foundations Early Learning Center and I said "this is home". This is it. Like just the overall feeling of it and you know this is the right thing to do. And I really did not have a lot of knowledge about what Reggio Emilia was. When I went to the Montessori school, it felt a little colder kind of and I know it's kind of a similar philosophy, but it just seemed cold to me. Where this seems like so loving and nurturing.

Johns also described the positive feeling she got when she entered the Reggio Emilia inspired program, "I mean I got a really good warm and fuzzy feeling the second I walked in". Smith acknowledged that she chose Foundations Early Learning Center for her child because of the intrinsic feeling she got after she visited the program,

I am kind of one of those people who just have an intuition about things. My husband and I toured several different programs. We took a tour of Foundations Early Learning Center and as soon as I walked through the door I knew that this was it.

### Theme 4: Chose Against a Non-Constructivist-Based Approach

Some participants described that despite societal pressures to choose a more traditional, non-constructivist approach to early childhood education for their children participants found more value in choosing the alternative constructivist-based Reggio Emilia approach. Michaels explained why she chose the Reggio Emilia's approach to learning over a more traditional, academic-based program,

The other programs we toured seemed really into the academic portion. The children need to know their numbers, their letters, how to write their names before they're out of the program all at three and four years old. I don't really think that's a necessity or should be the focus. I like that at Foundations Early Learning Center they're focused more on teaching the kids to be curious and how to find the answers to questions.

Johnson explained that she felt the pressure from society to choose an academically focused early childhood program for her child. Despite the pressure, Johnson chose a Reggio Emilia program over a tradtional option,

I think that's what I was really drawn to was the whole idea that it's not worksheets, like that was very important to me. I think that just a traditional worksheet is not how my son is going to process learning. It was kind of a leap of

faith because it goes against a lot of what society wants to tell us about how children should be learning. I think every child needs the Reggio Emilia form of learning.

Johns purposely chose against the traditional, academic, teacher-directed approach for her child as well,

Specifically for my child, the traditional program approach wouldn't have worked. My daughter doesn't sit still. She's on the go constantly. So, I can't even imagine her sitting at a desk with like a pencil in her hand and being like, "What are we doing today?" If my daughter had been handed a worksheet every day, she would expect that every day. At Foundations Early Learning Center, it's different every day. I feel like here compared to a traditional program, it's so individual based. The teachers at Foundations Early Learning Center are focused on individual care within the group, which I don't think it would be like in a traditional classroom.

Marshall described how she purposefully chose the constructivist-based Reggio Emilia program over a traditional, non-constructivist program for her child,

There are so many preschool options and the main reason we chose this program is because my daughter does not like structure, like a classic Montessori or a traditional preschool. She's not going to sit and do stuff she is told to do and that would get her bored very easily. Worrying about what the children are going to be doing all day. Having them cramped inside, just doing stuff they are going to be doing in elementary school didn't appeal to me.

Smith described her decision to choose a Reggio Emilia inspired program over an academic style program for her two children,

I think that for my daughter that real structured and rigid thing would've been too hard. Learning through the children's natural abilities and giving children opportunities to explore topics is one of the reasons why we choose this Reggio Emilia program. If my children would have been enrolled in a real traditional space, I don't know that they would ever have that opportunity to do that.

Looking ahead to when my daughter goes to kindergarten, I'm really nervous because my daughter needs that extra patience. Sometimes she needs that extra time and there isn't that extra time in public schools. There isn't that extra patience in a normal, standard, state-based program. The children are expected to do certain things, and do it right now, and do it quickly because the educators have to keep up with what the state and government said they have to.

## Theme 5: Satisfaction for Choosing a Reggio Emilia Program over Alternatives

All five parent participants had a child who attended Foundations Early Learning Center for a minimum of six months. Johnson, whose son had been in the program for a little over two years, shared her satisfaction for choosing the Reggio Emilia inspired program that included everything from the director, the educators, and the approach to learning,

I'm just really pleased. I really feel like if we would have gone down the traditional route it would have crushed his spirit right away. If he was at a

traditional school I'm guessing he would kind of be turned off by education and by the learning process.

Smith also described her satisfaction with constructivist-based Reggio Emilia approach, "My children are two of the dirtiest children at Foundations Early Learning Center. We love it. I would bathe them a million times for them to have those experiences that they offer through this Reggio Emilia program". Johns explained her satisfaction for choosing the constructivist-based Reggio Emilia philosophy for her child, "I'm very satisfied. At Foundations Early Learning Center it's different every day. I feel like compared to a traditional program, it's so individual based. It's what my child needs specifically for that day. I love it here. I am so happy". Marshall described why she chose a constructivist-based Reggio Emilia philosophy over a traditional academic-focused preschool for her child,

The A's will come in time. I think that's part of the philosophy, right? Is to give them time and space and trust. The kindness, the compassion, the relationship skills, working with all your peers, and not singling out other children is so important. I don't see it in the other schools as much as they focus on it at Foundations Early Learning Center. Hopefully, she'll be in a position when she leaves here, that she'll be able to stand up for people. Not just herself but for others and even outside of school. When she becomes an adult and she needs to function in society, have pride, have success, and when her fellow peers have success she will be happy for them. That's going to be important. That's what's important, not the grades.

One of Smith's children attended Foundations Early Learning Center for two years and was currently enrolled in kindergarten at the time of the interview (while her daughter was currently enrolled in the preschool program at Foundations Early Learning Center). Smith described the satisfaction and benefits for choosing the Reggio Emilia inspired preschool program for her children,

It just helped my son, who is in kindergarten now, develop more. It gave him another way of looking at things. It kind of expanded what we already saw in him. He was already real inquisitive and stuff, but I think it gave him much more space to explore. I think that he may have been a little bit more reserved if he did not attend this program. He might not have been as willing to take risks and stuff like that. I think that's definitely helping him in kindergarten now. If he would have started in kindergarten and not attended Foundations Early Learning Center he would have been a real follower. He would've done everything that he was told and I don't think that he would have ever wanted to learn more. His kindergarten teacher says, "He wants to know. He asks and he explores and learns and he is asking the other kids in his class really tough questions to promote their learning". The Reggio Emilia program takes the thing that my kids already have internally and intrinsically and then gives them space and an opportunity to build and explore. If my children would have been in a real traditional space, I don't know that they would ever have that opportunity to do that. I mean we love this place and these women and these kids so much.

### **Themes Based on Research Question 2**

Research question two investigated what parents felt their children gained from being enrolled in a constructivist-based, Reggio Emilia inspired program in the American Midwest. To give context to the current study, the term *benefit* in Reggio Emilia programs in Italy would typically contrast the term *benefit* in traditional early childhood programs in the United States. Benefits identified by parents in traditional early childhood programs in the United States typically would include if their children learned their ABC's, started to read, or knew their numbers one-20. Expectations of traditional early childhood programs in the United States contrasted expectations of educators in Reggio Emilia programs in Italy. Educators in Reggio Emilia programs typicaly focused on how children developed critical thinking and problem solving skills, built positive relationships with others, and investigated and inquired topics of interest (Edwards et al., 2012).

Typical associated benefits of children that attended Reggio Emilia programs that parents identified were various holistic benefits because educators valued the children's abilities, listened to their ideas, and gave children opportunities to articulate their theories (Fyfe, 2011). In the Italian Reggio Emilia programs, educators would most likely choose the word *value* over the word *benefit* to describe what was acheieved from their children after they attended a Reggio Emilia program. For the current study, I intentionally chose to use the word benefit with the acknowledgment that although programs in Reggio Emilia may not choose to use this term, I used *benefit* with the intention to gather data from parent participants as they would be more familiar with this term. Results of the

current study displayed that parents indicated associated benefits for their children in holisite terms, that aligned with the values of Reggio Emilia philosophy. Ten main themes emerged from results of the parent participants interviews that answered research question two and were described in detail in the next section.

## **Theme 1: Access to Creative Opportunities**

One aspect of Reggio Emilia philosophy that was identified as a perceived benefit from parent participants was the value educators in the Reggio Emilia inspired program placed on providing opportunities for their children to be creative. Michaels explained creative experiences her child had at Foundations Early Learning Center, "It's not preconstructed like "you're gonna do a pumpkin today" type of thing. The children can kind of be creative in their own way. There's a lot of opportunity for that". Johnson agreed with Michaels that one benefit of her son after he attended the Reggio Emilia inspired program was the focus on creative learning, "I feel like there is so much creative learning and like a whole other side of my son is coming out that maybe wouldn't have in a traditional setting". The one hundred languages of children was a term that Reggio Emilia infant, toddler, and preschool programs in Italy were founded on. Smith explained the integration of the one hundred languages in many aspects of learning at Foundations Early Learning Center,

My daughter is making mud-pies, there's music playing almost every morning when we come in, and there are dance parties. The children can swing while they paint on a big piece of paper on the ground. They take bottles of paint and they let the kids swing and paint. There are a lot of creative outlets for the children.

Marshall identified the access to creative opportunities as a benefit and one identified favorite experience of her daughter's,

My daughter loves everything at Foundations Early Learning Center and she's very artistic. My daughter loves when the educators put stuff on the projector for the children to explore. Through these type of creative arts experiences the children are learning a lot of different aspects of art, which is totally non-existent anymore in public schools.

In the Italian Reggio Emilia early childhood programs, the inclusion of an atelier is a significant part of the children's daily lives (Gandini et al., 2005). Smith described a studio space in one of the rooms at Foundations Early Learning Center, "They have one room inside the school that has become the studio space. A teacher will bring some kids in there and they will do self-portraits or constructive play or other creative project work". Marshall also described the inclusion of the art studio at Foundations Early Learning Center,

They have an art studio. It is outside and it's like a complete art studio. They use paint and any type of material to do with art. There is everything there, any type of material you can think of. They give the children the materials and let them do what they want with it. The children move through the process and create what they want. Whatever the children are thinking about or have an idea about. So there is a lot of learning about different aspects of art.

### Theme 2: Individualized Care and Learning

One aspect of Reggio Emilia inspired programs that parents identified as one associated benefit was the attention educators took to individualize care and learning for each child. The educators in Reggio Emilia programs tailored learning by setting individual goals for each child. Marshall explained how the individualized care was implemented at Foundations Early Learning Center, "The teachers have expectations, but they are different for every student. They make individualized goals for each student. The teachers make sure every child is taken care of and is progressing on their individualized goals". One identified benefit from Johns of the Reggio Emilia inspired program was the individualized care given from the educators, "It's more in-depth. It's more taking my child as an individual and not just as a group". Smith discussed how the educators at Foundations Early Learning Center gave her daughter the extra time and patience that she needed,

I'm reallly nervous for my daughter to go to public kindergarten because she needs that extra patience that the teachers give to her at Foundations Early Learning Center. To really explore, to really learn, to have someone sit there with her and work through issues and conflicts. It is going to be really a struggle for her I think in public school because she will be expected to do these things really fast. In the Reggio Emilia program, she has the opportunity to take her time.

Johnson explained how educators at Foundations Early Learning Center were attentive to the individual needs of her son,

The educators at Foundations Early Learning Center picked up on sensory issues in my son. I think if he was in a normal program, he would have probably been labeled a behavior problem from an early age. Having their knowledge at Foundations Early Learning Center has been amazing.

Marshall had a similar experience as Johnson. Marshall's daughter, the youngest of four, had limited speech when she started in the preschool classroom at Foundations Early Learning Center. Marshall appreciated the approach from the educators at Foundations that focused on supporting the individual needs of her child,

When my daughter first started, she was not speaking for herself and the teachers recommended that we go talk to her doctor about it. The teachers observed that my daughter was getting upset because she couldn't talk with the kids when they were trying to talk with her. The teachers explained that we want to build her self-esteem by helping her with her speech. The teachers were worried about her as a whole person. If we went to another preschool, I don't know if they would have been so helpful in that aspect or if they would know where to go for support. The teachers at Foundations Early Learning Center really wanted to help so we got her assessed and she started in speech class. The teachers at Foundations Early Learning Center wanted to know what my daughter was doing in speech class, so that way they could help and do it here to support her.

#### Theme 3: Interest, Inquiry, and Project-Based Learning

The learning approaches implemented in Reggio Emilia inspired Foundations

Early Learning Center were interest, inquiry, and project-based. Johnson described one

identified benefit of her child after she attended the Reggio Emilia inspired program at Foundations Early Learning Center was how curriculum was constructed based on individual interests and inquires of the children in the classroom,

The approach to learning is child-directed. I think it's amazing when the kids will grab onto an idea and the educators take it as far as they possibly can. That's amazing to me. I think it is amazing for the teachers and that's a lot more work than just handing out a worksheet.

Michaels agreed with Johnson because the curriculum in the Reggio Emilia inspired program was not repeated, theme-based, or generic. Instead, it was carefully designed based on the individual students in the classrooms, "It is not curriculum that they use every single year for every kid that comes through". Marshall explained that the way the educators involved students in the creation of curriculum in the Reggio Emilia program was another associated benefit, "The children come up with some of the ideas and there's not a set we have to get this done today curriculum". Johns also pointed out that Reggio Emilia approach to education was a associated benefit, "In my mind when you say Reggio Emilia all I think is that it is impressive. The way that they work with my child is different than a standard curriculum".

Smith described how educators in the Reggio Emilia inspired program supported her daughter's learning through an interest and project-based approach,

The teachers let the children start the process. Once the process has started there is so much opportunity to build upon that. For an example, my daughter is interested in the babies. So the teachers start with that and then they ask, "How do

we take care of babies?" Then you start to get those other real-life lessons that are brought into the theme from the teacher. Now the baby needs to be changed so let's make a chart to record when the baby need to be changed. So then they're getting charting skills and writing skills. It's a natural way for the teachers to move with the natural progression as to what's next in the children's development. For me, the biggest part is that the teachers start where the children are and then expand from there.

Reggio Emilia programs followed children's interests and tailored learning to the individuals in the classrooms. Johns identified one associated benefit of her daughter after she attended the Reggio Emilia inspired program was how Foundations Early Learning Center followed a project-based approach to learning, "The approach at Foundation's Early Learning Center is more interest-based. And it is project-based. It is more authentic the way teachers do curriculum here rather than just to give students something out of the binder".

Smith explained the benefit she found in project-based learning as in Reggio Emilia, even with her education and background in public education. Smith found deep value in a project-based approach to learning for her children at Foundations Early Learning Center,

The Reggio Emilia program does project-based things that are really interesting to the kids because it's something they can relate to. It's letting the children explore and be who they are and expand on their interests. It's not just "here's a piece of paper". Coming from public education that is hard for me to say, but it is true. So, it is starting where the children are and then expanding from there. They are doing a house project currently in the preschool room. The teachers asked parents to turn in pictures of everyone's home and brought them in the classroom to share. They talked about what a home is and what to do in a home and what the rooms are in a home. That's a really big project-based thing that they've done this year that is really interesting to the kids because it's something they can relate to.

Part of project-based learning was giving children the opportunity to think critically about a topic. One associated benefit identified by Johns was the critical thinking skills that increased in her daughter since her daughter started to attend Foundations Early Learning Center,

There's a lot of critical thinking in my daughter's mind that I see when she's at home and building or doing whatever she's doing now. She'll stop and she'll think, "what happens if I take this block out or what happens if I add a new block"? I know it is 100% what they are doing at Foundations Early Learning Center. I can see that there is a lot of critical thinking happening in the classrooms.

# Theme 4: Communication and Making Learning Visible through Documentation

Documentation was viewed as a vital part of communication with families, children, and the school community in Reggio Emilia programs. Educators documented educational work to reflect on the interests, projects, and daily happenings of the individual classrooms. Documentation also communicated to children the value of what they do and brought awareness to the parents and public of the children's experiences in

the classrooms (Gandini & Edwards, 2001). One way Foundations Early Learning Centers communicated daily experiences in the classroom through documentation was with daily learning stories. Learning stories at Foundations Early Learning Center provided daily documentation through text and pictures that were sent electronically to parents that described specific details of what individual classrooms were engaged in each day. Johnson explained one benefit of the Reggio Emilia inspired program was the daily documentation of the learning stories that parents were given, "Every single day you get documentation. The learning stories they send home are great with pictures and quotes from kids. It is wonderful." Johns also identified that daily documentation was a benefit of the Reggio Emilia inspired program,

We get those sweet letters at the end of each day and it says what they did each day. I love it so that way when she does come home we can talk specifically about what she did that day. That was another thing, a lot of those other programs didn't offer that.

Marshall also identified daily documentation and communication that the parents received from staff as an associated benefit of the Reggio Emilia inspired program,

I really like the fact that I get the daily learning stories. We get the daily letters, the weekly newsletters, we have our conferences, and we always are able to have time every morning and every pickup to also discuss anything with the teachers. It's not just go to pick up your kid, sign out, and you're done. I think one thing that's huge is the communication from the teachers to the parents. Through the daily learning stories, every day I know exactly what my child did that day. Was

she sad? Was she upset? They reach out to me all the time with that constant feedback.

One form of documentation and communication to parents from educators that was common in Reggio Emilia programs in Italy was a portfolio (or named diary in Reggio Emilia, Italy) that was created for each child that described the invididual child's interests, progressions, and involvements (Edwards & Rinaldi, 2008). Educators at Foundations Early Learning Center followed the Reggio Emilia model to create portfolios that documented and analyzed each child's goals, strengths, and learning throughout the year. The implementation of portfolios at Foundations Early Learning Center was identified from parents as an associated benefit. Johnson explained her satisfaction with the portfolios at Foundations Early Learning Center, "I think that the portfolios are amazing. It's a ton of work for the teachers and I can't think of another program that does something similar. It just shows all the love that is put into the approach to teaching." Jackie described the portfolio process and how they were used as a form of documentation of the children's learning throughout the year,

The portfolios are constantly being changed out and added to. I'm so looking forward to graduation because when they graduate the children are given the portfolio as a graduation present. Inside the portfolio includes all learning stories that are printed out for your child and all of the children's saved artwork. It shows the child's strengths and all that they've worked on throughout their time at Foundations Early Learning Center.

#### **Theme 5: Classroom Environment and Choice of Materials**

In Reggio Emilia programs, educators created classroom environments with the intentional choice of materials, aesthetics, and space arrangements that were unique to the Reggio Emilia philosophy. From parent participants, the intentional classroom environment and choice of materials were identified as one associated benefit of their children after they attended the Reggio Emilia inspired program. Johns described the influence aesthetics of the classroom environment had on her decision-making process to choose Foundations Early Learning Center, "I loved the preschool classroom. I remember walking in and they had things hanging from the ceiling. It looked like a magical place. It felt like a really good space. It just was different from the other schools". Smith described the typical set up of the classroom at Foundations Early Learning Center, "There are various activities set up around the room. The teachers let the kids just kind of do their thing and then they guide the children's learning". Smith also described the arrangement of the classroom experiences were set up in a free-flow manner, "They are in small groups just because they naturally end up that way. The students are usually in two or threes. The way that the classroom is set up is that there are different sections or areas for the children to explore. The children kind of rotate into different areas or add to something they were working on the previous day".

Part of the Reggio Emilia philosophy is that materials are offered to children intentionally and purposefuly. Typical materials found in Reggio Emilia classrooms include natural and recycled materials that are open-ended such as metal rings, flower petals, blocks, pinecones, seashells, and clay (Bond, 2015; New, 1989). Marshall

identified the selection of purposeful materials offered to children at Foundations Early

Learning Center as one associated benefit, "There are different materials that the children
can use in play that are unique. Materials such as natural materials and materials specific
to projects the children are doing. They bring in sand and rocks and pumpkins." Marshall
described how educators in the Reggio Emilia inspired program offered materials as part
of the classroom environment,

The teachers purposely put things out in the classroom to get the children to ask questions. There's always something different based on the interests of the children. The teachers give children time to play, explore, test, and see what the materials are before telling them how to use it.

One benefit identified by parent participants was the selection and offering of unique materials in the Reggio Emilia inspired classroom environment that would not commonly be found in alternative preschool programs. Natural materials are an intentional material that was chosen in Reggio Emilia programs to support open-ended learning that appealed to the children's senses. Johnson explained, "I think it is really cool because of the natural materials they use. It is not like you go to the playground and see big plastic play items. They use natural wooden logs and blocks in the classroom". Marshall described materials that were offered at Foundations Early Learning Center that supported creativity in the classrooms, "The children have opportunities to build and be creative. There is usually specific materials that they offer on certain days like play dough or clay maybe paired with blocks. The materials are open-ended but the children

naturally end up being creative with them." Smith described how the chosen materials offered by the educators supported projects that the children were studying,

With the whole "house project" this week, the students made their own play-dough and made their own houses with it. They were using blocks and the play-dough together to make mortar and houses. Through these materials, the children understand how blocks go together and how bricks have to be to get poured on the foundation for a home.

### **Theme 6: Educators Approach to Teaching**

Educators in Reggio Emilia programs approach teaching differently than in a traditional, teacher-directed preschool program. Smith described the approach educators used in Foundations Early Learning Center classrooms as an associated benefit of the Reggio Emilia inspired program, "The teachers kind of guide the children's learning and interact, but not always. It is not, "do this, do this, do this" from the teachers. I see the teachers more as facilitators of learning instead of directors". Smith further described the approach educators used with students at the Reggio Emilia inspired program,

During our tour, just watching the way the teachers were interacting with the kids and letting them kind of set the tone at Foundations Early Learning Center was really what sparked my interest. I started to see more and started to understand the philosophy behind Reggio Emilia. When we took a tour of the school, everybody was doing their own thing. I could see the kids engaged in a lot of different play. The teachers were guiding the children, but letting them explore and I was like "this is it".

Johns also agreed with Smith that a main benefit of her child being enrolled in the Reggio Emila inspired program was how educators approached working with the students, "The approach that the teachers used with the students was phenomenonal and 100 percent amazing. My daughter loves her teachers. She talks about her teachers all the time". Marshall also identified one associated benefit as how Reggio Emilia educators worked with students to support their learning,

The children are always learning something new and are very inquisitive. The teachers are so open to seeing what the children are thinking and are trying to bring it out of them. The teachers let the students do what they are doing and leave it in the children's hands. The way the teachers interact with the kids is different. Having that different tone sets my daughter's day in a positive way.

One aspect of teaching in Reggio Emilia programs is the value placed on continuing education and professional development of the staff. All five parent participants acknowledged that the educators at the Reggio Emilia inspired program were committed to professional development opportunities. Johnson said, "It seems like the teachers are always going to continuing education courses and they post about it on their Facebook page". Marshall also acknowledged the value placed on continuing education for educators at the Reggio Emilia inspired program,

The teachers tell us if there is a conference or if one of their teachers attended a conference. Then the teachers bring the extra knowledge back here and they share that information with the staff. They visit some of the sister type programs to try to get with other Reggio Emilia inspired schools.

## Theme 7: Viewing Children as Capable

One of the overarching values of Reggio Emilia practice is how educators viewed children as capable with profound respect given to each child. Parent participants identified one associated benefit of their children enrolled at Foundations Early Learning Reggio Emilia inspired program for how educators viewed their children as capable. Smith identified the way educators spoke with children at Foundations Early Learning Center showed that the educators viewed children as capable, "Teachers speak with children in the most respectful way". Johns also acknowledged a benefit of educators speaking with children as one way they view children as capable, "I feel like they talk to the children like they are adults and it works. I think that's huge". Marshall identified the way educators at Foundations Early Learning Center talked to students as a positive benefit of the program,

One of the other reasons why I truly enjoy my daughter being at Foundations

Early Learning Center is the teachers have a different approach to talking to the kids. It is so calming and gentle. A compassionate, gentle, and caring way when talking to the kids. When children do things like take things away from each other or hurt their friend, the teachers have such a different way of talking to them. It is so encouraging to know that this is how your child is being talked to when you can't be there. There's no yelling, no stern talk, and no you can't do that. It is different, definitely different from the other schools. It makes such a big difference and I love the way that they talk to the kids.

One aspect of Reggio Emilia philosophy that was part of the day to day practice at Foundations Early Learning Center was the educators trusted children in their physical capabilites and gave children opportunities to take risks. Smith recognized the benefit of children being given opportunities to take physical risks, "The teachers explain why it is important to take risks. When your child jumps off that rock it will help them to be more brave and not be afraid to try something new". Marshall agreed with Smith and recalled her observation of how educators at Foundations Early Learning Center promoted physical capabilites,

Even the infants and the toddlers that can or cannot walk yet are given opportunities to climb trees. At other schools, the teachers would not allow children to do that but, the children need to. The teachers encouraged even the younger children to do things that most wouldn't believe they could. The teachers get the children to push themselves.

Another way that children were viewed as capable in Reggio Emilia classrooms at Foundations Early Learning Center was that children were given opportunities to solve problems independently. Johnson explained how educators promoted positive problem solving between peers, "The teachers really take the time to let the children try to work things out, but then the teachers are there to help guide if they need it. The teachers are teaching them how to be a good friend and to think about others". An example from Smith on how educators gave children opportunities to solve problems in a guided manner,

I love some phrases the teachers use with the children like, "What's your plan for that?" or "How are you moving your body? Is that safe?" It makes the children stop and pause. I hear a lot of guided questions from the teachers, "How could we?" or "What should we do"? The teachers do not focus on the problem, but they focus on the solution.

#### Theme 8: Authentic Relationships and Social-Emotional Development

A significant part of Reggio Emilia philosophy is the value placed on building positive and authentic relationships between educators, families, and children. Parent participants identified the value placed on building authentic relationships and supporting social-emotional development in children as one associated benefit of the Reggio Emilia inspired program. One aspect of Foundations Early Learning Center that parents identified influenced the decision to choose a Reggio Emilia inspired program over alternatives was the authenticity from the staff to their children. Johns toured three alternative programs for her daughter, but chose the Reggio Emilia inspired Foundations Early Learning Center because of the authentic relationships formed between staff and children,

We looked at a few schools, but this program just stuck out to me. This is the first one we looked at, but I always went back to the first day here. How the director was with our daughter was so special because she down and did a puzzle with her. No one else did that. At Foundations Early Learning Center there was real interaction with the staff with my child in front of me.

Smith's son was currently in kindergarten during the time of the interview who previously attended Foundations for two years. Smith described her family's positive experience with the authentic relationships that were formed with the staff at Foundations Early Learning Center,

My son still has those relationships with his teachers at Foundations Early

Learning Center even after going to kindergarten. This place has just changed our
family. I mean we love this place and these women and these kids so much. Now
with my daughter in preschool, I know that leaving Foundations Early Learning
Center is going to be probably one of the hardest things I'll ever have to do in my
life.

Marshall explained one benefit for her daughter being enrolled at a Reggio Emilia inspired program was the value the program placed on building social relationships for children,

My daughter has completely developed self-confidence from coming here. She's got the social skills now and has blossomed. I wanted my daughter to be compassionate, to be kind to people, to have friends, to have very strong relationships with others and that is what they do at Foundations Early Learning Center. My daughter will have a solid foundation when she leaves here.

One way Foundations Early Learning Center promoted inclusive practices that strengthened authentic realtionships between children in the classroom was through the creation of a girls group. The girls group met once a week and addressed certain topics that promoted healthy friendship skills. Marshall identified one benefit of the Reggio

Emilia inspired program was that her daughter got to be a part of the girls group.

Marshall explained that the girls group supported girls in learning about friendship and tried to eliminate bullying or other unwanted behaviors, "The group meets once a week and there are different things that they do to build relationships and make sure the girls are interacting appropriately. They work on being aware of their peers' feelings and compassion."

Parent participants also described how educators at Foundations Early Learning Center supported healthy emotional development through supporting and honoring all emotions. Johns shared a story of how educators at Foundations Early Learning Center supported her daughter emotionally,

Today I got an email from my daughter's teacher that my daughter got very upset. She was building some elaborate house and it was time to pick up and she wasn't ready. The teacher wrote me an email about how my daughter got mad, explained the tools they used to distract her, and asked my daughter to tell her how she was feeling and how she wanted to express her anger. My daughter drew a picture and the teacher sent me a picture of it. I knew probably how mad she was but stuff like that I'm not going to get at KinderCare.

#### Theme 9: Constructivist-Based Learning: Learn Through Doing

At Foundations Early Learning Center learning was approached with a constructivist-based foundation as it was in Reggio Emilia philosophy. One identified benefit from parents of the Reggio Emilia inspired Foundations Early Learning Center was that children had the opportunity to actively participate in their learning. One aspect

of a constructivist-based approach to learning is that children are given opportunities to learn through doing. Smith described her interpretation of how Foundations Early

Learning Center fostered constructivist-based learning with the children, "It's not just "here's a piece of paper and write an A". It's making meaning and building upon those ideas that the children already have, explaining that knowledge, and bringing it to another form through action." Johnson gave examples of how educators at Foundations Early

Learning Center have integrated an active approach to learning, "I love that children write in the sand with pipe cleaners, mold letters with their hands, use their bodies to move. The teachers integrate the learning into doing". Smith explained that children were given opportunities to actively participate in their education at Foundations Early

Learning Center,

The children did an obstacle course one day and my son had all these great ideas.

I heard about this obstacle course for weeks about how he would just try one thing and that didn't work so he got to try something else. It gave him space and the opportunity to really manipulate things and his ideas with his body.

Marshall gave an example of how children were offered open-ended materials on the playground at Foundations Early Learning Center that encouraged active participation,

The teachers give children time to play, explore, test, and see what materials. For an example, they had little pumpkins outside. They also had pipes cut. The kids were learning to elevate those cut pipes, roll the pumpkins, and push them down the slide. I think the teachers at other schools I've gone to would have been like,

"oh no, no, no, you can't do that". Here, the teachers let the kids roll the big pumpkins down the slide. This process is teaching the children to see what they can experiment and do.

## **Theme 10: Nature and Outside Classroom Experiences**

Reggio Emilia programs in Italy are known for the integration of learning outside the classroom walls with offering daily outdoor opportunities for children. Foundations Early Learning Center followed the Reggio Emilia philosophy by extending the classroom to the outdoors for children daily. At Foundations Early Learning Center, a large aspect of the children's classroom experiences was centered around the access and availability to a state recreation area within walking distance from the school. The state recreation area was a sanctuary for nature experiences that included a pond, trees, living animals, and insects. Nature walks were embedded into the daily practice and curriculum at Foundations Early Learning Center. Marshall identified one associated benefit for her daughter attending the Reggio Emilia inspired program was the daily nature and outside experiences that were offered,

Being outside daily, being able to go on nature walks, and just having the big open space for the children to explore. It was the fact that they still go outdoors every single day and it doesn't matter what the weather is. At times, the children get the opportunity to stop and view what is out in the pond or in the water. Then they can draw what they see and do an expressional art piece. My children come home rolled in mud and I have to change them before they get into the car, but you know they had a good day.

Johnson explained that her son benefited from being outside every day at Foundations Early Learning Center, "I think my son and most of the kids are happiest when they're outdoors. I love how the educators at Foundations Early Learning Center incorporate nature into everything". The integration nature and outdoor experiences into the everday learning at Foundations Early Learning Center was very important to Smith,

I don't think that my daughter would have cared about rocks or animals or the bugs on the ground. After she attended Foundations Early Learning Center, she is very attuned to all that nature stuff. Being outside and being a part of nature and having that integrated into the curriculum was just huge for both my husband and I. The director was talking about nature being another teacher. I was like that is exactly it. This is how kids learn. A natural way of learning.

## **Discrepant Cases**

All five parent participants shared very similar lived experiences and identified similar beneficial aspects after their children attended a Reggio Emilia inspired program. Most parent participants confirmed similar results in a positive direction for their child that attended a Reggio Emilia inspired program. Although all five parents gave a majority of positive results, one discrepant concern from one parent related to their children's lived experiences at Reggio Emilia inspired Foundations Early Learning Center was acknowledged during the parent interview. One concern described from parent participant, Johns, was a concern she had for her daughter who had not yet learned how to write the letters in her name after being at Foundations Early Learning Center for 6 months,

I'm not saying there's anything wrong with what they're doing at Foundations
Early Learning Center, but I thought by now my daughter would know how to
write her name. Her name is not common and it is kind of a little bit longer. She
knows the letters, but she doesn't put them in order. She's getting there so
hopefully by the end of this year she'll be able to write it.

In Reggio Emilia programs, writing experiences are typically embedded into projects or interests of children with the goal to create meaningful writing opportunities within that context. Although one out of the five parents voiced a concern that her child had not learned how to yet write her name, none of the other parents voiced the same concern and the overall lived experience described by Johns was in favor of the Reggio Emilia approach to education for her daughter's early learning program.

#### **Summary**

Through the current study, 5 parents were interviewed with the intention to gain insights into parents interpretations of Reggio Emilia philosophy from their children's lived experiences. The Reggio Emilia approach to early childhood education is unique with a method for working with children that is an organic and innovative. Through Research Question 1, an investigation of the lived experiences of parents who chose and enrolled their children in a constructivist-based Reggio Emilia inspired early childhood program was conducted. After results from interviews with parent participants were analyzed, 5 themes emerged from the 5 participants that answered what lived experiences influenced parents decisions to choose a constructivist-based Reggio Emilia inspired program for their children.

Parents answered with similar responses that resulted in understanding the process of finding, choosing, and deciding on a Reggio Emilia inspired program for their children in the American Midwest. Results from the first research question displayed that parents chose a constructivist-based Reggio Emilia inspired program after parents conducted their own research to find out what Reggio Emilia philosophy was. The second theme that emerged was that parents made an informed decision by touring Foundations Early Learning Center as well as alternative program options. The third theme was that parents chose a Reggio Emilia inspired program based an intrinsic feeling. Theme 4 that emerged from the current study was that parents purposely chose against a traditional, non-constructivist-based approach to early childhood education. The final theme that emerged from research question one was that parents found satisfaction when they chose a Reggio Emilia inspired program over non-constructivist based programs.

In Research Question 2, the associated benefits parents perceived that were achieved after they enrolled their children in a Reggio Emilia inspired program were discovered. All ten themes that emerged from Research Question 2 paralleled the core values that were articulated from Reggio Emilia Istituizone of the Municipality of Reggio Children (2010). Most themes overlapped with other themes because in Reggio Emilia philosophy, the core tenats were so connected to the next. All themes that emerged were related to philosophy, teaching, environment, and values of the Reggio Emilia early childhood program pedagogy. Ten core themes developed from the results that helped to answer Research Question 2 for when parents identified associated benefits of their children because of attending a Reggio Emilia inspired program. The first benefit that

was identified by parents was their children were given opportunites daily to be creative. A second perceived benefit was the individualized care and learning that was given from the educators at the Reggio Emilia inspired program. A third associated benefit identified from parent participants was the Reggio Emilia approach to learning that was interest, inquiry, and project-based. Theme number 4 acknowledged one benefit for children who attended a Reggio Emilia inspired program was the value that was placed on communication and documentation. The fifth theme identified that the intentional classroom environment and choice of materials offered to the children was beneficial. Another theme that emerged from the second research question was the unique approach educators in Reggio Emilia inspired classrooms had when they worked with children. Theme 7 viewed children as capable, an associated benefit identified by parents. An eighth theme was the authentic relationships and focus on the social-emotional development in children at the Reggio Emilia inspired program. For theme 9 parents identified the constructivist-based learning was an associated benefit at Foundations Early Learning Center. The final theme identified from parents was the benefit their children acquired from being given nature and outside classroom experiences daily. In Chapter 5, more detailed information on the interpretations of findings, explanation of limitations, recommendations for future research, implications of results, and researcher's reflections will be included.

#### Chapter 5: Discussion, Conclusions, and Recommendations

#### Introduction

The goal of the current study was to investigate parents' reasons for choosing a Reggio Emilia inspired program for their children and to further understand advantages for choosing this philosophy. Reggio Emilia philosophy contrasts a traditional, academic, teacher-directed approach to early childhood education and instead implements an intentional, interactive, collaborative, constructivist-based tactic. The first research question was focused on the lived experiences of parents who chose to enroll their children in a constructivist-based Reggio Emilia inspired early childhood program included. Parents conducted their own research to learn about Reggio Emilia and made informed decisions to enroll their children in the Reggio Emilia inspired program after they toured Foundations Early Learning Center and alternative programs. Parents chose a Reggio Emilia inspired program based on positive intrinsic feelings the parents had after they toured Foundations Early Learning Center. Parents purposely chose against a traditional, nonconstructivist approach for their children's early childhood education experience. After their children were enrolled at Foundations Early Learning Center, all parents identified a satisfaction for choosing a Reggio Emilia inspired program over alternative programs.

Findings from Research Question 2 answered what the associated benefits were that parents perceived were achieved after the parents enrolled their children in a Reggio Emilia inspired program. Access to daily creative opportunities that were provided for their children, an individualized approach to caring and tailoring learning to each child,

and satisfaction for interest, inquiry, and project-based learning were three associated benefits identified from the results of the current study. The educators style of communication and the use of documentation that displayed what the students learned was identified from parents as beneficial. Special attention to the classroom environment and choice of materials offered, the positive ways that educators approached working with children, and viewing children as capable were all associated benefits identified from parents. A focus on the creation of authentic relationships between educators, families, and students along with attention to the social-emotional development to children was another associated benefit. Parents identified a constructivist-based learning approach where educators gave children opportunites to learn through active participation as a positive advantage of the Reggio Emilia inspired program. Last, parents identified the extension of classroom experiences into the outdoors and in nature as beneficial to their children.

## **Interpretation of Findings**

Findings of the current study have the possibility to extend knowledge in the field of early childhood education related to Reggio Emilia philosophy in the United States. Results shared in the current study have the power to bring awareness of how a program in the American Midwest have implemented the Italian Reggio Emilia philosophy into practice in their program and understand the stories parents shared about their children's experiences. Results of the current study represent lived experiences of parents who chose a Reggio Emilia inspired program over alternative options for their children. Within the results, parents identified the core foundational tenets of Reggio Emilia

pedagogy as a valuable choice for the approach to early childhood education for their children.

## Connection to past Literature Related to Research Question 1

Key findings from the first research question focused on why parents have chosen and enrolled their children in a constructivist-based Reggio Emilia inspired program over alternative programs. Other research has supported the choice of a Reggio Emilia inspired program. For example, Mathis (2011) investigated experiences of using social constructivist Reggio Emilia philosophy in a state-funded preschool program in California and suggested for future research from early childhood leaders to advocate for the recognition of a strong image of the child as found in Reggio Emilia philosophy and to add more literature for how Reggio Emilia programs contribute to developmentally appropriate practices for young children. Through the current study, parental satisfaction for choosing a constructivist-based Reggio Emilia program over alternative program options was found. Parent participants in the current study identified satisfaction with the Reggio Emilia philosophy and the developmentally appropriate approach focused on the vision of children as strong and capable, as suggested by Mathis (2011).

One purpose of my current study was to examine why parents made the choice for a Reggio Emilia inspired program versus an alternative early childhood program approach for their preschool-aged children. Recchia and Bentley (2013) also investigated parental perceptions for their children's preschool experiences at a child-centered preschool program. Like the current study, Recchia and Bentley gathered data from the parents' perspective (p. 8). The investigation to examine Reggio Emilia experiences from

parents as participants was one participant group that was not typical in much of the past literature found.

## Connection to past Literature Related to Research Question 2

Research Question 2 was focused the associated benefits for children in a Reggio Emilia inspired program in the American Midwest. The current study confirmed that parents who chose a Reggio Emilia inspired program viewed the experiences as beneficial and were satisfied with their choice of a constructivist-based program over alternative program options for their children. The results of one study that was conducted from Stowell (2014) suggested conducting future research to extend knowledge of Reggio Emilia inspired practices in the United States for educational stakeholders. Stowell suggested for future researchers to conduct studies that would add literature to show how an arts-based Reggio Emilia education is beneficial to children with the goal to bring more awareness for stakeholders who developed curriculum for kindergartens in the United States. Findings from my current study support Stowell's suggestion with evidence for how parents perceived their children who attended an artsbased Reggio Emilia program as positive. Parent participants from the current study identified benefits that were related to an arts-based, Reggio Emilia inspired education and included that children were given the opportunity to actively be involved in their own education, educators supported individual learning styles, and children were given opportunities for creative arts experiences daily.

From the current study, one perceived benefit identified from parent participants was that Reggio Emilia educators supported children in their social and emotional

development. A connection to similar results of the current study in relation to socialemotional benefits from Reggio Emilia programs was also found in a study from Schneider et al. (2014), who examined educators' attention to building positive socialemotional skills in children as they transitioned to kindergarten from a Reggio Emilia inspired preschool program.

Another perceived benefit parents identified was how a Reggio Emilia classroom environment was arranged with careful attention to the choice of materials offered to children. Parents declared that the creation of a classroom environment that was appealing and gave children the freedom to explore, create, and engage was beneficial. Smith (2014) conducted a case study in Chicago on students who attended a Reggio Emilia inspired program. Through Smith's investigation, parents identified that when students were given freedom to explore classroom materials at will, positive benefits for children's interests in learning was a result. New (1989) also supported that part of the creation of classroom environments in Reggio Emilia programs was to provide materials for students that fostered the hundred languages of learning. Materials are placed in Reggio Emilia classrooms with careful attention that appealed to students in aesthetically pleasing ways. Further, the creation of Reggio Emilia environments supports that "The emphasis on aesthetics and the visual arts fosters a genuine art appreciation, and is expanded, through a constructivist curriculum, as a form of exploration as well as expression" (New, 1989, p. 13). Results from New displayed similar results as the current study and identified the intentional choice of materials and classroom environments as a benefit in Reggio Emilia inspired programs.

## Findings Related to Conceptual Framework

Reggio Emilia early childhood programs are rooted in the constructivism learning theory developed by Bruner, Dewey, Gardner, Piaget, Vygotsky, Malaguzzi, and others (Edwards et al., 2012; Firlick, 1995; Hewett, 2001). The theory of constructivism was related to the research questions and phenomenological research design because the topic being studied, Reggio Emilia philosophy, was founded on the theory of constructivism. Understanding the constructivist framework as the foundation of Reggio Emilia early childhood philosophy helped to explain what lived experiences and benefits should be expected of children that attended a Reggio Emilia inspired program.

One value that was integrated from educators in Reggio Emilia programs was the inclusion of children as active participants and constructers in their learning (McNally & Slutsky, 2017). The vision of children as active participants in their own education was the foundational idea of constructivism and the base of Reggio Emilia philosophy. In Reggio Emilia programs, children are given opportunities to be involved in the process of learning because children were viewed as having rights as citizens of the world (Bond, 2015; New, 1989; Schneider et al., 2014; Swann, 2008). Data collected from the current study indicated that parents were in favor of a constructivist-based Reggio Emilia inspired program that gave children opportunities to be active participants in their education.

Findings of the current study related to the foundation of constructivism was similar to results that were found in an empirical study conducted by Zorec (2015).

Results of Zorec's research displayed the importance of listening to children that creates

democratic and supportive learning climates in constructivist-based programs. Similar to the results of Zorec's research, in the current study all five parent participants described constructivism as how Reggio Emilia educators viewed children as active participants. In the current study parents described the strategies educators implemented constructivism in the classroom was through following interests in the creation of classroom projects, how educators viewed children as capable, and how classrooms were designed with the inclusion of ateliers and materials that honored the individual strengths of all children.

## **Limitations of the Study**

One limitation addressed in Chapter 1 was how to control for researcher bias. One disadvantage of a phenomenological research design is researcher bias because of the difficulty to remove all personal experiences of the researcher from the study (Moustakas, 1994). To control for bias, experiences related to Reggio Emilia philosophy were bracketed that helped me to become aware of the assumptions I brought to my research through my past personal experiences (see Moustaka, 1994). As the sole researcher of the current study, I reflected on my own experiences of working in multiple Reggio Emilia inspired early childhood programs in the United States, living in Italy for one and a half years, being a current NAREA. member, attending the Reggio Emilia Wonder of Learning exhibit, being on the committee to bring the Reggio Emilia Wonder of Learning exhibit to Michigan in 2017, and being an educational advocate for the constructivist-based Reggio Emilia philosophy (see Creswell, 2013). The process of bracketing helped me to realize and reflect on my biases and to do my best to remove any biases that would impact the current study.

The second limitation to the current study included an acknowledgment that parents who were interviewed about the process of choosing a constructivist-based Reggio Emilia program had their children enrolled at Foundations Early Learning Center for at least six months. After 6 months had passed from the time the parents had gone through the decision-making process, a possible limitation was parents ability to accuratly recall specific details related to choosing the Reggio Emilia program at the time of the interview. It was also intentional to let a significant period of time pass to gain a deeper understanding from parents of the essence of the Reggio Emilia program experience. During interviews with parents, they were able to recall the process of choosing and sharing experiences of the Reggio Emilia inspired program after 6 months time had passed with ease.

One limitation that was not addressed in Chapter 1, but contributed to the trustworthiness of the study was that after 10 weeks of trying to recruit parent participants to be a part of my study, only 5 parents agreed to be interviewed. In my original plan, a sample size of 5 to 10 participants was anticipated. If more parents would have agreed to be a part of my study, the current study could have possibly been more transferable to future research. The last limitation related to the demographics of the participants in the study was that all 5 participants were white, of higher socio-economic status, and had at least a bachelor's degree in Education. It is important to note that the chosen data collection site, Foundations Early Learning Center, did not offer scholarships or discounts for families of lower-socioeconomic status. Foundations Early Learning Center was tuition based and may have excluded families who were not able to financially afford

to enroll their children in the program. As many Reggio Emilia inspired programs in the United States are privately owned and tuition-based, accessibility for families of lower income levels can sometimes be limited (Smith, 2014).

#### Recommendations

As explained by Moustakas, a researcher becomes an expert on their topic of study because the researcher investigates all prior research on the specific topic, acquires the newest literature related to the topic, and becomes proficient to recognize areas of future research related to the topic (1994). Results from the current study indicated a need for further investigations that included one area of future research to examine how children transition from a Reggio Emilia inspired program into a traditional, public school kindergarten. Four out of 5 parent participants of the current study were concerned for how their children would transition from a constructivist-based Reggio Emilia inspired preschool program philosophy into a traditional, nonconventuctivist-based public school educational philosophy for kindergarten. Johns explained a concern for her daughter when she will finish preschool at Foundations Early Learning Center and will have to attend public school for kindergarten,

I think that it is going to be really difficult next year when my daughter goes to kindergarten because it is a big transition. If she was used to this type of philosophy and then the same philosophy will not continue in kindergarten. This is what worries me is that she is used to a way of doing things and then it is going to be worksheets, sit at the desk, and it will be completely different in public

school. I worry about the transition. The more I think about the transition, the more I'm nervous for my daughter next year to attend public education.

Previous studies from Hall (2013) investigated how Reggio Emilia philosophy was integrated in mainstream education in Australia. Schneider et al. (2014) examined how educators in Reggio Emilia, Italy instilled practices to help smooth transitions for students into public education programs from a Reggio Emilia early childhood program. Previously mentioned studies are similar in scope to what I am suggesting for future research, yet a suggestion for an examination of students who attended a Reggio Emilia inspired early childhood program and then transitioned to a traditional, public education kindergarten in the United States is needed. Parents, educators, policymakers, and those people who are invested in early childhood education may benefit from future research that would focus on the transition from a Reggio Emilia program into a public school kindergarten.

All 5 parent participants asked questions about the possiblity and availablity of Reggio Emilia inspired programs for elementary aged students. The second area of recommendation for future research that came from results of the current study was to conduct an investigation of Reggio Emilia inspired programs for elementary age students in the United States. Smith explained her desire for Reggio Emilia inspired programs in elementary years for her daughter,

If I could take this program and expand it in elementary school, if that existed near us then that would be where my daughter would go. I mean I look at like other countries like Finland and they have completely done away with all subjects

and follow the inquiry-based learning approach as in Reggio Emilia. I would love if my children could attend a Reggio Emilia program in elementary school.

A recommendation for future research from the results of the current study would be to investigate elementary aged Reggio Emilia inspired programs in the United States with the intention to bring a deeper awareness of possible benefits and experiences of a constructivist-based educational philosophy for school-aged students.

#### **Implications**

Social change is defined as the ability to bring awareness, change in values, or cultural norms on a topic. The intention of the current study, was to implement social change through bringing awareness of the impact that a high-quality, developmentally appropriate early childhood program, Reggio Emilia, may have on children. With the intention to specifically examine how constructivist-based Reggio Emilia early childhood program instilled advantages for children from the parents perspective was explored.

Ample evidence supports an interactive, developmentally appropriate, play-based approach to early childhood programs as in Reggio Emilia programs (Hirsh-Pasek et al., 2009; Miller & Almon, 2009). Yet, the problem remained that despite credible research to support a constructivist-based approach like Reggio Emilia, policymakers continue to push for a more academic-based philosophy that aligns preschool standards with kindergarten expectations due to standardized testing in public schools (McNally & Slutsky, 2017).

Results of the current study displayed a high level of satisfaction for parents who chose a constructivist-based Reggio Emilia inspired program over alternative program

options for their children in the American Midwest. One major implication of social change that could be implied through results of the current study was that parents identified that their young children learned through an active participatory approach to education. Parents explained that when children were seen as capable and were given opportunites to be involved in their education, children thrived. Reggio Emilia, a constructivist-based early childhood philosophy that origniated in Northen Italy, proved to be an excellent model to facilitate optimum learning in young children. The early childhood programs that were created in Reggio Emilia, Italy in the 1940s took the opposite method of a traditional educational approach. As described by McNally and Slutsky the educational approach in Reggio Emilia was intentional, "The challenge was to educate in a different way" (2017, pg. 1935).

It was the intention of my current research to bring awareness of the advantages of a nontraditional, developmentally appropriate, early childhood educational approach in the context of implementation in the United States. Results from the current study concluded that all parent participants had a deep satisfaction for the nontraditional Reggio Emilia early childhood approach for their children. Parents described deep satisfaction for their children enrolled in a Reggio Emilia inspired program because the philosophy was unique from a traditional approach. The Reggio Emilia philosophy differed from traditional, nonconstructivist early childhood programs because Reggio Emilia philosophy was centered around viewing children as rich in potential, competent, and included children's theories in their day-to-day learning (Fyfe, 2011; McNally & Slutsky, 2017). In an effort to contribute to social change, results of the current study provided

policymakers, educators, childcare centers, parents, and early childhood advocates the evidence for the positive advantages of implementing Reggio Emilia philosophy into early childhood programs in the United States.

#### Researcher's Reflections

Throughout my career in the field of early childhood education I have lived in various areas of the country that included cities in California, Illinois, Italy, and Michigan. I worked in nine early childhood programs that followed various educational philosophies that ranged from Creative Curriculum, Head Start, HighScope, Montessori, play-based, traditional academic, programs that claimed they were Reggio Emilia, but in action were not, and one program that followed the Reggio Emilia philosophy closely. After working as an early childhood educator for 14 years, I have witnessed first hand the powerful impact a programs educational philosophy has on the children's experience and learning. In my experience, I found a significant difference between programs that were truly following Reggio Emilia versus programs that followed a traditional, teacherdirected philosophy. A signficant difference was that Reggio Emilia inspired programs started learning with a child-centered, constructivist-based approach while traditional programs typically constructed learning with an opposite approach that was top-down. In Reggio Emilia inspired classrooms, children were given rights as citizens of the world, children's ideas were used as an impetus for learning, and classroom environments were created with careful intention.

The approach used in Reggio Emilia programs was unique because learning experiences were created to intentionally support children's natural way of learning. In

Reggio Emilia inspired programs when children were given opportunities to discuss, theorize, and have their voices heard the learning unfolded naturally and with joy.

Children in Reggio Emilia classrooms were guided by educators that acted as researchers, observered children, and intentionally created learning opportunities based on the interests of the children in the classroom. When learning in Reggio Emilia programs were crafted with careful intention with children's authentic interests in mind, the results were that children displayed eagerness, curiousity, excitement, and were filled with a spark for learning. In Reggio Emilia programs, children were encouraged to be active participants in their education: educators encouraged children to touch, feel, smell, hear, and experience learning through doing. From my first hand experiences, the elements of a Reggio Emilia philosophy created a positive impact on children's early educational experiences that created joy-filled learning environments.

#### Conclusion

Early childhood education is in a state of crisis in the United States as standardized testing in elementary public schools have been pushed down onto expectations in preschools that are not developmentally appropriate (Apple, 2008; Christakis, 2016; Hirsh-Pasek et al., 2009; Miller, & Almon, 2009) With ample research displaying results for early childhood programs that are interactive, childled, and playbased, it is vital to preserve and advocate for an educational philosophy in early childhood that supports and benefits children's natural way of learning. It is my hope that results of the current research will provide support for the Reggio Emilia inspired

educational philosophy in the United States that is interactive, developmentally appropriate, and constructivist-based that supports children's natural way of learning.

The aim of the current doctoral study was to bring awareness to others of perceived benefits and overall lived experiences of parents who chose a constructivist-based Reggio Emilia early childhood philosophy over alternative program options for their children in the American Midwest. Results from the current study indicated the approval from parents who chose a Reggio Emilia early childhood philosophy for their children. Parent participants in the current study explained that part of their satisfaction for choosing the Reggio Emilia inspired program for their children was because the philosophy honored children's capabilities and included children as active participants in their education. The integration and expansion of Reggio Emilia philosophy into more early childhood programs in the United States has the potential to result in developmentally appropriate, beneficial, valuable, and joyous learning experiences for young children and their families.

#### References

- Abdelfattah, M. (2015). Realizing a progressive pedagogy: A comparative case study of two Reggio Emilia preschools in San Francisco. *Universal Journal of Educational Research*, *3*(12), 1074-1086. doi:10.13189/2015.031217
- Andrews, T. (2012). Effectiveness of preschool preparing students for kindergarten: A comparison of early childhood curriculum models (Doctoral dissertation).

  Retrieved from ProQuest Dissertations & Theses database. (3542060).
- Apple, M. W. (2008). Can schooling contribute to a more just society? *Sage Publications*, 3(3), 239-261. doi:10.1177/1746197908095134
- Barbarin, O. A., Early, D., Clifford, R., Bryant, D., Frome, P., Burchinal, M., & Pianta, R. (2008). Parental conceptions of school readiness: Relation to ethnicity, socioeconomic status, and children's skills. *Early Education and Development*, 19(5), 671-701. http://doi.org/10.1080/10409280802375257
- Barnett, W. S., & Frede, E. (2010). The promise of preschool: Why we need early education for all. *American Educator*, *34*(1), 21-29. http://doi/10.106/S0885-2006 (01) 0081-3
- Becraft, B. T. (2013). Exploring pedagogical relationships within a culture of creativity in a Reggio Emilia-inspired school (Doctoral dissertation). Retrieved from ProQuest Dissertations & Theses Global. (1508820256).
- Bodrova, E. & Leong, D. J. (2005). Uniquely preschool. *Educational Leadership*, *63*(1), 44-47. http://doi.org/10.1207/s15566935eed1604\_4
- Bond, V. L. (2015). Sounds to share: The state of music education in three Reggio Emilia

- inspired North American preschools. *Journal of Research in Music Education*, 62(4), 462-484. doi:10.1177/00224294114555017
- Brown, C. P. (2015). Conforming to reform: Teaching pre-kindergarten in a neoliberal early education system. *Journal of Early Childhood Research*, *13*(3), 236-251. http://doi.org/10.1177/1476718X14538602
- Bruner, J. (1977). The process of education. Cambridge, MA: Harvard University Press.
- Bruner, J.S (1966). Toward a theory of instruction. Cambridge, MA: Belkapp Press.
- Chaudry, A., Morrissey, T., Weiland, C., & Yoshikawa. H. (2017). *Cradle to kindergarten: A new plan to combat inequality*. New York, NY: Russell Sage Foundation.
- Christakis, E. (2016). The importance of being little: What preschoolers really need from grownups. New York, NY: Viking.
- Copple, C., & Bredekamp, S. (2009). Developmentally appropriate practice in early childhood programs serving children from birth through age 8. (3rd ed.). Canada, Ontario: Pembroke.
- Creswell, J. W. (2013). *Qualitative inquiry & research design: Choosing among five approaches.* (3rd ed.). Thousand Oaks, CA: Sage.
- DeVries, R., Zan, B., Hildebrandt, C. Edmiaston, R., & Sales, C. (2002). *Developing constructivist early childhood curriculum: Practical principles and activities*.

  New York, NY: Teachers College Press.
- Dewey, J. (1938). Experience & education. New York, NY: Touchstone.
- Dewey, J. (1990). The school and society: The child and the curriculum. Chicago, IL:

- The University of Chicago Press.
- Diamond, A. (2010). The evidence base for improving school outcomes by addressing the whole child and by addressing skills and attitudes, not just content. *Early Education and Development*, 21(5), 780-793. doi:10.1080.10409289.2010.514522
- Dodd-Nufrio, A. T. (2011). Reggio Emilia, Maria Montessori, and John Dewey:

  Dispelling teachers' misconceptions and understanding theoretical foundations.

  Early Childhood Education Journal, 39(1), 235-237. doi:10.1007/s10643-011-0451-3
- Edwards, C., Gandini, L., & Forman, G. (2012). *The hundred languages of children* (3rd ed.). Santa Barbara CA: Praeger.
- Edwards, C. & Rinaldi, C. (2008). *The diary of Laura: Perspectives on a Reggio Emilia diary*. St. Paul, MN: Redleaf Press.
- Elliott, E. M. (2005). Changing perspectives in early childhood education: Recasting the Reggio Emilia approach. *Journal of Early Childhood Teacher Education*, *25*(1), 153-163. https://doi.org/10.1080/1090102050250208
- Firlick, R. J. (1994). Promoting development through constructing appropriate environments: Preschools in Reggio Emilia, Italy. *Daycare and early education*, 22(1), 12-20. https://doi.org/10.1007/bf02361422
- Firlick, R. J. (1995). Early childhood education and beyond: Can we adapt the practices and philosophies from the preschools of Reggio Emilia, Italy into our elementary schools in America? Retrieved from ERIC database. (ED 381264)
- Fu, V., Stremmel, A., & Hill, L. (2002). Teaching and learning: Collaborative

- exploration of the Reggio Emilia approach. Upper Saddle River, NJ: Merrill.
- Fyfe, B. (2011). Ways forward towards a socially just and humane world: The Reggio movement. *SAGE Publications*, 41(4), 585-597. doi:10.1177/004908571104100406
- Gandini, L. (1984). Not just anywhere: Making child care centers into "particular places." Beginnings: The Magazine for Teachers of Young Children, 1, 17-20.
- Gandini, L. (2011). The challenge of assessment: Scaling-up the Reggio Emilia approach in the USA? *Early Childhood Matters*, 78-82.
- Gandini, L., & Edwards, C. P. (2001). *Bambini: The Italian approach to infant and toddler care*. New York, NY: Teachers College Press.
- Gandini, L., Etheredge, S., & Hill, L. (2008). *Insights and inspirations from Reggio Emilia: Stories of teachers and children from North America*. Worchester, MA:

  Davis Publications.
- Gandini, L. Hill, L., Cadwell, L., & Schwall, C. (2005). *In the spirit of the studio:*Learning from the atelier of Reggio Emilia. New York, NY: Teachers College Press.
- Gardner, H. (1982). Art, mind, & brain: A cognitive approach to creativity. New York, NY: Basic Books.
- Gardner, H. (2011). *Frames of mind: The theory of multiple intelligences*. Philadelphia, PA: Basic Books.
- Gilman, S. (2007). Including the Child with Special Needs: Learning from Reggio Emilia. *Theory into Practice*, *46*(1), 23-31. doi:10.1207/s15430421tip46014

- Glassman, M., & Whaley, K. (2000). Dynamic aims: The use of long-term projects in early childhood classrooms in light of Dewey's educational philosophy. *Early Childhood Research & Practice*, 2(1), 2-18.
- Griebling, S. (2011). Discoveries from a Reggio-inspired classroom: Meeting developmental needs through the visual arts. *Art Education*, *64*(2), 6-11. https://doi.org/10.1080/00043125.2011.11519114
- Grogan, K.E. (2011). Parents' choice of pre-kindergarten: the interaction of parent, child, and contextual factors. *Early Child Development and Care*, *182*(10), 1265-1287. doi:10.1080/03004430.2011.608127
- Hall (2013). Implementing a Reggio Emilia inspired approach in a mainstream Western

  Australian context: The impact on early childhood teachers' professional role.

  Edith Cowan University Research Online. Retrieved from

  http://ro.ecu.edu.au/theses/1082
- Hall, J., Sylva, K., Sammons, P., Melhuish, E., Sirai-Blatchfor, I., & Taggart, B. (2013).
  Can preschool protect young children's cognitive and social development?
  Variation by center quality and duration of attendance. *School Effectiveness and School Improvement*, 24(2), 155-176. doi:10.1080/09243453.2012.749793
- Hanna, W. (2014). A Reggio-inspired music atelier: Opening the door between visual arts and music. *Early Childhood Education*, *42*, 287-294. doi:10.1007/sI0643-013-0610-9
- Hatcher, B., Nuner, J., & Paulsel, J. (2012). Kindergarten readiness and preschools:

  Teachers' and parents' beliefs within and across programs. *Early Childhood*

- *Research & Practice*, 14(2), 1-17.
- Hendrick, J. (1997). First steps toward teaching the Reggio way. Upper Saddle River, NJ:

  Prentice Hall.
- Herrington, B. G. (2014). Parental perceptions of early childhood education programming for children with and without disabilities (Doctoral dissertation).

  Retrieved from ProQuest Dissertations & Theses Global. (1609201911).
- Hewett, V. M. (2001). Examining the Reggio Emilia approach to early childhood education. *Early Childhood Education Journal*, *29*(2), 95-100. doi:10.1023/A:1012520828095
- Hirsh-Pasek, K., Golinkoff, R. M., Berk, L. E., & Singer, D. G. (2009). *A mandate for playful learning in preschool: Presenting the evidence*. New York, NY: Oxford University Press.
- Istituizone of the Municipality of Reggio Children. (2010). *Indications, preschools and infant-toddler centres of the municipality of Reggio Emilia*. Reggio Emilia, Italy: Reggio Children Publications.
- Johansen, A. S., Leibowitz, A., & Waite, L. J. (1996). The importance of child-care characteristics to choice of care. *Journal of Marriage and Family*, 58(3). doi:10.2307/353734
- Katz, L. (1999). Curriculum disputes in early childhood education. Retrieved from ERIC Digest. (ED 436298).
- Katz, L. & Chard, S. (1992). Engaging children's minds: The project approach.Norwood, NJ: Ablex Publishing Company.

- Kim, B. S., & Darling, L. F. (2009). Monet, Malaguzzi, and the constructive conversations of preschoolers in a Reggio-inspired classroom. *Early Childhood Education Journal*, *37*(2), 137-145. doi:10.1007/s10643-009-0323-2
- Krechevsky, M., Mardell, B., Rivard, M., & Wilson, D. (2013). *Visible learners*.

  \*Promoting Reggio-inspired approaches in all schools. San Francisco, CA: Jossey-Bass.
- Lichtman, M. (2006). *Qualitative research in Education: A user's guide*. Thousand Oaks, CA: Sage.
- Lin, C. (2013). Revealing the "essence" of things: Using phenomenology in LIS

  Research. *Qualitative and Quantitative Methods in Libraries*, 4(1), 469-478.
- Linder, S., Powers-Costello, B., & Stegelin, D. (2011). Mathematics in early childhood:

  Research-based rationale and practical strategies. *Early Childhood Education Journal*, *39*(1), 29-37. doi:10.1007/s10643-010-0437-6
- Lindsay, G. (2015). Reflections in the mirror and Reggio Emilia's soul: John Dewey's foundational influence on pedagogy in the Italian educational project. *Early Childhood Education Journal*, 43(6), 447-457. https://doi.org/10.1007/s10643-015-0692-7
- Lyon, S., & Donahue, D. M. (2009). Reggio-inspired professional development in a diverse urban public school: cases of what is possible. *Teacher Development*, 13(2), 107-124. doi:10.1080/13664530902860499
- Mathis, C. (2011). What are supports and barriers to using social constructivism and the Reggio Emilia approach in state funded preschool programs in California?

- (Doctoral dissertation). Retrieved from ProQuest Dissertations & Theses. (UMI 3474428).
- Mawdsley, H. P., & Hauser-Cram, P. (2013). Mothers of young children with disabilities: perceived benefits and worries about preschool. *Early Child Development and Care*, *183*(9), 1258-1275. https://doi.org/10.1080/03004430.2012.719896
- McClow, C. S., & Gillespie, C. W. (1998). Parental reactions to the introduction of the Reggio Emilia approach in Head Start classrooms. *Early Childhood Education Journal*, *26*(1), 131-136. https://doi.org/10.1023/a:1022915732362
- McNally, S. A., & Slutsky, R. (2017). Key elements of the Reggio Emilia approach and how they are interconnected to create the highly regarded system of early childhood education. *Early Child Development and Care*, 187(12), 1925-1937. doi:10.1080/03004430.2016.1197920
- Merz, A. H., & Swim, T. J. (2011). 'You can't mandate what matters': Bumping visions against practices. *Teacher Development*, *15*(3), 305-318. doi:10.1080/13664530.2011.608512
- Miller, E., & Almon, J. (2009). *Crisis in the kindergarten: Why children need to play in school.* College Park, MD: Alliance for Childhood.
- Mitchell, S., Foulger, T., Wetzel, K., & Rathkey, C. (2009). The negotiated project approach: Project-based learning without leaving the standards behind. *Early Childhood Education Journal*, *36*(4), 339-346. doi:10.1007/s10643-008-0295-7
- Moustakas, C. (1994). *Phenomenological research methods*. Thousand Oaks, CA: Sage Publications.

- Nelson, R. L. (2000). Application of the Reggio Emilia approach to environments in the United States: A case study (Doctoral dissertation). Retrieved from ProQuest Dissertations & Theses Global. (304612954).
- Neuman, S. B. (2014). Content-rich instruction in preschool. *Educational Leadership*, 72(2), 36-40. Retrieved from ERIC Digest. (EJ 1042386)
- New, R. S. (1989). Early childcare and education, Italian style: The Reggio Emilia daycare and preschool program. Retrieved from ERIC Digest. (ED 319483).
- New, R. S. (1991). Projects and provocations: Preschool curriculum ideas from Reggio Emilia. *Montessori Life*, 26-28.
- New, R.S. (1998). Social competence in Italian early childhood education. *New Directions for Child Development*, 81(1), 87-104. http://doi.org/10.1002/cd.23219988007
- *Newsweek.* (1991, December). The 10 best schools in the world and what we can learn from them.
- Nitecki, E., & Chung, M. (2013). What is not covered by the standards: How to start emergent literacy in preschool classrooms. Albany, NY: New York State Reading Association.
- North American Reggio Emilia Alliance. (2018). Retrieved from https://www.reggioalliance.org
- O'Donoghue, L. A. (2011). Moving onward: Reflections and re-interpretations of the Reggio approach. *Canadian Children*, *36*(1), 20-25.
- Öztürk, S. D. (2016). Is learning only a cognitive process? Or does it occur in a

- sociocultural environment: "Constructivism" in the eyes of preschool teachers. *Journal of Education and Training Studies*, 4(4). doi:10.11114/jets.v4i4.1268
- Palmer, J. A. (2001). Fifty modern thinkers on education: From Piaget to the present.

  New York, NY: Routledge.
- Parnell, W. (2012). Investigating the Reggio Emilia study tour experience: From conversation to insights. *Networks: An Online Journal for Teacher Research*, *14*(1), 1-18. https://doi.org/10.4148/2470-6353.1077
- Parnell, W. (2012). Experiences of teacher reflection: Reggio inspired practices in the studio. *Journal of Early Childhood Research*, *10*(2), 117-133. https://doi.org/10.1177/1476718x11407982
- Pinata R., Barnett S., Burchinal M., & Thornburg K. (2009). The effects of preschool education: What we know, how public policy is or is not aligned with the evidence base, and what we need to know. *Association for Psychological Science*. *10*(2), 49-88. doi: 10.1177/1529100610381908
- Quirkos. (2018). Retrieved from https://www.quirkos.com
- Ransom, M. (2012). Choosing a great preschool: A parent's perspective. *Childhood Education*, 88(4), 266-269. http://doi.org/10.1080/0009456.2012.699864
- Recchia, S. & Bentley, D.F. (2013). Parent perspectives on how a child-centered preschool experience shapes children's navigation of kindergarten. *Early Childhood Research & Practice*, *15*(1), 1-10. https://doi.org/10.1057/9781137485120\_10
- Reggio Children (2012). One city, many children: Reggio Emilia, a history of the present.

- Reggio Emilia, Italy: Reggio Children.
- Roth, A.V. & Mansson, A. (2011). Individual development plans from a critical didactic perspective: Focusing on Montessori and Reggio Emilia profiled preschools in Sweden. *Journal of Early Childhood Research*, *9*(3), 247-261. doi:10.117711476718X10389148
- Roopnarine, J.L. & Johnson, J.E. (2005). *Approaches to early childhood education*. (4th ed.). Upper Saddle River, NJ: Pearson.
- Rubin & Rubin (2012). *Qualitative interviewing: The art of hearing data.* (3rd ed.). Thousands Oaks, CA: Sage Publications.
- Saldana, J. (2016). *The coding manual for qualitative researchers*. (3rd ed.). Thousands Oaks, CA: Sage Publications.
- Schneider, B.H., Manetti, M., Frattini, L., Rania, N., Santo, J.B., Coplan, R.J., & Cwinn, E. (2014). Successful transition to elementary school and the implementation of facilitative practices specified in the Reggio-Emilia philosophy. *School Psychology International*, *35*(5), 447-462. doi:10.1177/014303434313511003
- Smith, S. (2014). Parental Engagement in a Reggio Emilia-inspired head start program.

  Early Childhood Research & Practice, 16(1), 1-9. Retrieved from ERIC database.

  (EJ 1045235)
- Spencer, T. (2014). Preschool for all? Examining the current policy context in light of Genishi's research. *Contemporary Issues in Early Childhood*, *15*(2), 176-184. doi:10.2304/ciec.2014.15.2.176
- Stowell, D. (2014). *Waldorf kindergarten and Reggio-inspired kindergarten:*

- Documenting value and effectiveness of two arts-based approaches (Doctoral dissertation). Retrieved from ProQuest Dissertations & Theses Global. (1629825805).
- Sutton, J. & Austin, Z. (2015). Qualitative research: Data collection, analysis, and management. *California Journal of Health System Pharmacists (CJHP)*, 68(3), 226-231. https://doi.org/10.4212/cjhp.v68i3.1456
- Swann, A.C. (2008). Children, objects, and relations: Constructivist foundations in the Reggio Emilia approach. *Studies In Art Education*, *50*(1), 36-50. https://doi.org/10.1080/00393541.2008.11518754
- Tarr, P. (2001). Aesthetic codes in early childhood classrooms: What art educators can learn from Reggio Emilia. *Art Education*, 54(3), 33-39.
  https://doi.org/10.2307/3193922
- Temple, J.A. & Reynolds A.J. (2007). Benefits and costs of investments in preschool education: Evidence from the child-parent centers and related programs.

  \*Economics of Education Review, 26(1), 126-144.

  https://doi.org/10.1016/j.econedurev.2005.11.004
- Turner, T. & Wilson, D. G. (2010). Reflections on documentation: A discussion with thought leaders from Reggio Emilia. *Theory Into Practice*, 49(1), 5-13. doi:10.1080/00405840903435493
- Vakil, S., Freeman, R., & Swim, T.J. (2003). The Reggio Emilia approach and inclusive early childhood programs. *Early Childhood Education Journal*, *30*(3), 187-92. https://doi.org/10.1023/a:1022022107610

- Vatarlaro, A., Szente, J. & Levin, J. (2015). Transformative learning of pre-service teachers during study abroad in Reggio Emilia, Italy: A case study. *Journal Of The Scholarship Of Teaching and Learning*, *15*(2), 42-55. doi:10.14434/josotl.v15i2.12911
- Walsh, B.A. & Petty, K. (2007). Frequency of six early childhood education approaches: A 10-year content analysis of early childhood education journal. *Early Childhood Education Journal*, *34*(5), 301-305. https://doi.org/10.1007/s10643-006-0080-4
- Wana, J. (2010). How to choose the best preschool for your child: The ultimate guide to finding, getting into, and preparing for nursery school. Naperville, IL:

  Sourcebooks.
- Williams, J.M., Landry, S.H., Anthony, J.L., Swank, P.R. & Crawford, A.D. (2012). An empirically based statewide system for identifying quality pre-kindergarten programs. *Educational Policy Analysis Archives*, 20(17), 1-36. https://doi.org/10.14507/epaa.v20n17.2012
- Wurm, J.P. (2014). More Working in the Reggio way. St Paul, MN: Readleaf Press.
- Yilmaz, K. (2008). Constructivism: Its theoretical underpinnings, variations, and implications for classroom instruction. *Educational Horizons*, 88(3), 161-172. https://www.jstor.org/stable/42923724
- Zehrt, J.R. (2009). *Journeying to make Reggio Emilia 'our own' in a university lab* school and teacher education program (Doctoral dissertation). Retrieved from ProQuest. (3435980).

- Zigler, E., & Styfco, S.J. (2010). *The hidden history of head start*. New York, NY: Oxford University Press.
- Zorec, M.B. (2015). Children's participation in Slovene preschools: The teachers' viewpoints and practice. *European Education*, *47*(2), 154-168. doi:10.1080/10564934.2015.1039878

## Appendix A: Invitation to Participate

Initial letter distributed to parents of children in the preschool classroom at Foundations Early Learning Center who have attended the program for a minimum of 6 months.

#### Heidi Harris

#### Dear Families,

This letter is an invitation to consider participating in my dissertation study as part of my doctoral degree in the Department of Early Childhood Education at Walden University under the supervision of Dr. Grace Lappin. I would like to provide you with more information about this project in your consideration for participation.

The purpose of this study is to gather more information from parents on why they choose a constructivist based, Reggio Emilia early childhood program, for their children to attend. It is the goal of this study to understand parental perceived benefits after their children attended a Reggio Emilia inspired program and to gather information on the overall experience for their children.

Foundations Early Learning Center was chosen as my data collection site as it is a Reggio Emilia inspired program in the American Midwest that integrates the core values of the Reggio Emilia philosophy. I am seeking out parent participants of children whom have attended Foundations Early Learning Center at least 6 months to gather information on reasons why parents chose this type of program, what their overall experiences were, and to gain more data on details on the constructivist based Reggio Emilia program.

Participation in this study is voluntary. It will involve an interview of approximately one hour in length. If you are interested in participating in the study, please email Heidi.hotchkin@waldenu.edu. After Heidi has received your email, she will send you a consent form that will give more details for how to proceed and give consent for participation in the study.

My hope is that the results of my study will be of benefit to children, families, parents, policymakers, and educational stakeholders in the local and national communities. It is my goal that through my data collection, the results will contribute to greater understanding for a Reggio Emilia, constructivist based early childhood experience and what perceived benefits children have experienced from attending. Thank you in advance for your time.

Sincerely, Heidi Harris, PhD Student in Early Childhood Education at Walden University

# "Parental Choice and Perceived Benefits for Children Who Attended Reggio Emilia Inspired Program".

#### **Interview Questions:**

Basic Information:
Parent Name:
Parent Gender:
Parent Age:
Marriage Status:
Education Achieved:
Current Occupation:
Number of Children:
Ages of Children:
City in which you live:
Home Proximity to Foundations Early Learning Center:

#### **Background Information:**

- At what age did your child start attending Foundations Early Learning Center?
- What age is your child now? How long have they attended?
- What classroom is your child in now?
- Do you have any background related to early childhood education? If so, what?

#### Choice:

- Think back to when you were choosing an early childhood program for your child, what was most important to you when you enrolled your child in an early childhood program?
- Tell me about your experience choosing Foundations Early Learning Center program over alternative programs?
- What events or circumstances colored your decision to enroll your child at Foundations Early Learning Center?
- Did you visit other early childhood programs before you made a decision to enroll your child at Foundations Early Learning Center?
  - o If so, what stood out to you that helped you to choose Foundations Early Learning Center over alternatives?
- How do you think your child's experience may have been different if you chose a program that was traditional, teacher-directed, sit-down at desk type atmosphere?
- When your child first began at Foundations Early Learning Center, did you set goals for your child? If so, what were they?

## Philosophy:

- Foundations Early Learning Centers is a Reggio Emilia inspired program: what does that mean to you?
- Before your child attended Foundations Early Learning Center, what did you know about the Reggio Emilia approach?
- After your child has now attended Foundations Early Learning Center, what do you now know about the Reggio Emilia approach?
- What do you know about constructivist-based learning?
  - o **If they answer nothing:** Reggio Emilia programs are constructivist based in their approach to learning, which means the child is seen as an active participant (learn through doing versus passive participant).
  - o What do the teachers at Foundations Early Learning Center do on a daily basis that integrates a constructivist based learning model with your child?
- What do you think Foundations Early Learning Center does to support your child's learning?
- In terms of your children's educators approach to working with your child, what type of approach do they use?
- Professional development is one aspect of Reggio Emilia practice that is important; do you notice the educators doing this? If so, how?
- What about documentation of learning- making learning visible? Do you see evidence of this in the classroom?
- What are the elements of the nature-based preschool philosophy at Foundations do you feel may also be a part of the Reggio Emilia philosophy?

#### **Perceived Benefits:**

- What does a typical day look like in the life of your child at Foundations Early Learning Center?
- What are the expectations of your child from their educators? What do you think the educators expect from your child?
- What skills do you feel your child is obtaining at Foundations Early Learning Center?
  - What influence does the educational approach have on the skills your child is acquiring?
- What do you believe are your child's most treasured experiences while they have attended Foundations Early Childhood Center?
- What would your child say is their favorite experiences of attending Foundations Early Childhood Center?
- What goals do you wish to see your child accomplish after graduating from Foundations Early Childhood Center?
- What are the most important experiences from Foundations Early Learning Center will be beneficial to your child?
- What do you believe are positive benefits to your child's educational experience at Foundations Early Learning Center?

- How would you describe your experience at Foundations Early Learning Center to other parents whom are interested to enroll their own child in the program?
- What do you anticipate for your child's schooling experiences in the future after attending here for their first educational experience?
- Are there any other comments, stories, or explanations you would like to give for your experience as a parent of a child whom attended a Reggio Emilia inspired program?